
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 1NB 
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000 

 

 

 

Thursday, 10 August 2023 

 

Tel: 01993 861000 

e-mail - democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

UPLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

You are summoned to a meeting of the Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee which will be held 

in the Committee Room 1, Woodgreen, Witney OX28 1NB on Monday, 21 August 2023 at 2.00 

pm. 

 

 
Giles Hughes 

Chief Executive 

 

 
To: Members of the Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

 

Councillors: Julian Cooper (Chair), Rizvana Poole (Vice-Chair), Alaa Al-Yousuf, Lidia Arciszewska, 

Hugo Ashton, Andrew Beaney, Jeff Haine, David Jackson, Tim Sumner, Dean Temple 

and Mark Walker 

 

Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Executive, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 24 July 2023. 

 

2.   Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

To receive any apologies for absence.  

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee on any items to be 

considered at the meeting. 

 

4.   Applications for Development (Pages 9 - 78) 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development, details of which are set out in the attached 

schedule. 

 
Recommendation: 

That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Business Manager – Development Management. 

 

Page  Application No. Address Planning 
Officer 

11-44 23/00536/OUT Land South Of Hit Or 

Miss Farm, Banbury Road, 

Chipping Norton 

Joan 

Desmond 

45-76 23/01504/OUT Land West Of London 

Lane, 

Ascott under Wychwood 

Joan 

Desmond 

 

 

5.   Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions  

Purpose: 

To inform the Sub-Committee of applications determined under delegated powers and 

any appeal decisions. 

Recommendation: 

That the reports be noted. 
 

 

(END) 

Page 2



 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

Held in the Committee Room 1 at 2.00 pm on Monday, 24 July 2023 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Julian Cooper (Chair), Rizvana Poole (Vice-Chair), Lidia Arciszewska, Andrew 

Beaney, Jeff Haine, David Jackson, Tim Sumner, Dean Temple and Mark Walker 

Officers:  Emile Baldauf-Clark, Abby Fettes (Interim Development Manager) and Max 

Thompson 

Other Councillors in attendance: Elizabeth Poskitt and Colin Dingwall.   

80 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

The minutes of the previous meeting held on Monday 26 June 2023 were approved and signed 

by the Chair as a correct record subject to minor amendments proposed by Councillor 

Beaney who;  

Highlighted two points that had not been included in the Minutes of the Previous Meeting.  

1. Concerns over the Unicorn Public House – Councillor Beaney had proposed that 

concerns be raised over the ongoing case of the Unicorn pub in Great Rollright, and 

asked that these concerns be raised with the Executive Member for Planning and 

Sustainable Development. The Chair seconded the proposal. Democratic Services 

committed to email Councillor Carl Rylett with Committee’s comments.  

2. Councillor Beaney proposed that the Members are offered planning enforcement 

training. This was seconded by Councillor Ashton. Democratic Services to arrange a 

training session for all Members with the department.  

81 Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

Apologies for Absence were received from the following Councillors: 

- Alaa Al-Yousuf and Hugo Ashton.  

- Councillor Elizabeth Poskitt substituted for Councillor Hugo Ashton.  

- Councillor Colin Dingwall substituted for Councillor Alaa Al-Yousuf. 

82 Declarations of Interest  

Declarations of Interest were received as follows: 

There were no declarations of Interest raised at this point in the meeting (see item 4 for a 

declaration raised in relation to application 23/01493/FUL 7 Hughes Close, Charlbury.  

83 Applications for Development  

23/00860/FUL Land Formerly Known as The Square, Church Enstone.  

James Nelson, Planning Officer, introduced the application for the erection of a single dwelling. 

The Planning Officer drew the Committee’s attention to the Additional Representation Report 

with no objections from the Council’s Legal Team regarding a minor amendment to wording 

of clause 4.2 in the Unilateral Undertaking. The Planner continued with the presentation and 

highlight the key points of the application as follows:  

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

24/July2023 

 

 

 

 Tree Preservation Orders; 

 Listed buildings in the surrounding area; 

 The site is presently undeveloped; 

 Public rights of way highlighted;  

 Proposed site plan with access;  

 Elevations which included a dual pitched design; 

 The proposed use of Zinc and Solar Panels;  

 

John Pritchard spoke in objection to the application.  The Chair invited questions of 

clarification from the Committee. Of which there were none.  

Roger Burton spoke as the applicant for the application. The Chair invited questions of 

clarification from the Committee. Councillors asked for the following points to be clarified;  

 Current application being similar to the design of a house built in Stockport in 2018 

built by the applicant;  

 When using materials to keep the design net zero carbon, timber would be used to 

keep the building’s character with those in the surrounding area;  

 Materials used would be from a renewable resource; 

 

The Planning Officer continued with the presentation which clarified the following points.  

 Brought Members attention to Policies OS2, H2 and H5 in the Local Plan and 

paragraph 11D of the NPPF. Members were to consider these policies when deciding 

on the application;  

 Proposed materials to be used including timber cladding, zinc and solar panels would 

give the building a contemporary look; 

 Potential impact on surrounding areas, dwellings and heritage assets. Due to the 
location of the site being set back from the road it would result in a neutral impact on 

the appearance of the area;  

 The site would provide ecological enhancements; 

 The dwelling would be self-custom built unit as secured agreed by legal agreement; 

 

The Chair invited the Committee to discuss the application and the following points were 

raised:  

 The materials used were sustainable and renewable and were in keeping with the 

demands of changing environmental factors; 

 Retention of trees under the Tree Preservation Order; 

Page 4



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

24/July2023 

 

 

 The site was set back and had greenery surrounding it however was not in keeping 

with the local character of other dwellings within the local village; 

 Supportive of passive housing and fitted  quota for self builds; 

 Design in conflict with Local Plan Policies OS2, H2 and H5.  

 Design not in keeping with the local character of the village, especially the proposed 

materials to be used. Limestone not considered as a potential material for the design 

and build.  

Councillor Haine proposed that the application be refused in line against the Officer’s 

recommendations. This was seconded by Councillor Beaney and was put to the vote. There 
were 6 votes for and 4 against with 1 abstention and the application was therefore refused by 

the Committee.  

Councillor Poskitt abstained from the vote. 

Committee Resolved to: 

1. Refuse the application on the following grounds / in line with the following policies;   

 

1.1 The proposed dwelling, by reason of its design, form and use of materials, 

would not respect the architectural and historic character of the locality and 

would appear as an incongruous addition in this location to the detriment of 

visual amenities of the area. The proposal would also result in ‘less than 

substantial’ harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Tulip Cottage, The Manor 

House, and Rose Cottage, that is not outweighed by the public benefits arising 

from the scheme. Therefore, the proposal does not accord with West 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Polices OS2, OS4, EH11 and EH13 as well as the 

guidance contained in the NPPF 2021 and Sections 4 and 11 of the West 

Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016. 

 

1.2 The proposed location of the dwelling within the ‘small village’ of Church 

Enstone would result in the provision of a unit of residential development in an 

unsustainable location in conflict with housing locational strategy of West 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policies OS2 and H2. The proposal is therefore 

contrary to Policies OS2, H2 and H5 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local 

Plan 2031 and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF. 

 

23/01493/FUL 7 Hughes Close, Charlbury.  

Councillor Colin Dingwall declared an interest as the application was in his son’s name and 

confirmed he would not be present for the hearing of the application. Councillor Dingwall left 

the Committee Room 1 at 2.45pm.  

Emile Baldauf-Clark, Planning Officer, introduced the application for erection of detached 

dwelling and widening of existing dropped kerb, with amended plans.  

 

 

Page 5



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

24/July2023 

 

 

 

Within the presentation the Planning Officer clarified the following points:  

 The new access would be from Sturt Close;  

 Currently the site is not in use and over grown; 

 The site is in the AONB and the Charlbury Conservation Area. There would be no 

impact on the AONB; 

 The garden has been separated from 7 Hughes Close;  

 The dwelling would be a brick build with a slate roof;  

 There had been a previously approved application but this had been amended;  

 The property was in keeping with the design and scale of other properties in the 

area; 

 The dwelling was suitable for the site as the land was previously developed;  

 Windows that overlook surrounding properties would have obscured glazing by 

condition;  

 

Councillor Temple declared for the purpose of transparency, his that Aunts live in the same 

street as the application proposed.  

The Chair invited the Committee to discuss the application, which raised the following points: 

 Noted comments from Charlbury Town Council who did not object to the 

application; 

 No objections from Highways or neighbours;  

 Could have improved sustainability by including solar panels or heat pump;  

 Clarification over obscured glazing and fencing. The Planning Officer confirmed that 

there were no concerns over fencing and there had been an amendment from the 

previous application which had resulted in request for obscured glazing to be a 

condition; 

 

The Chair proposed that the application be approved in line with the Officer’s 

recommendations.  This was seconded by Councillor Temple, was put to the vote and 

unanimously approved by the Committee.  

Committee Resolved to; 

 

1. Approve the application in line with the Officer’s recommendations.  

 

Councillor Dingwall returned to the meeting in Committee Room 1 at 3pm. 

 

 

Page 6



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

24/July2023 

 

 

 

84 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions  

The report giving details of applications determined under delegated powers was received and 

noted.  

Councillors asked for clarification on the following items;  

 Page 54, Item 37; clarification on whether this application was an item for Lowlands 

Area Planning Sub-Committee. 

 Page 56, Item 50; Clarification regarding ventilation dormer windows. It was 

clarified that these had been added to the proposal.  

Committee Resolved to  

1. Note the report containing details of applications determined under delegated powers.  

 

Abby Fetes, Development Manager and James Nelson, Planning Officer outlined the Appeal 

Decisions report and provided an update on the current position with each application.  

1. APP/D3125/D/23/3317994 – 15 Oxford Road, Woodstock and 

APP/D3125/D/23/3315946 – 31 Oxford Road, Woodstock. Both appeals were 

dismissed on the grounds of having a detrimental impact on character of the existing 

properties and the conservation area.  

 

2. APP/D3125/W/22/3313665 – Westfield Farm, Church Road, Chipping Norton.  

Application to change agricultural buildings to a holiday home. Appeal allowed on the 

grounds of proposed alternations to building would be minor and not impact the 

AONB and had no concerns on the retention of the building as it was a modern farm 

building. Committee Members asked for clarification on enforcement in relation to land 

nearby, this would not be affected.  

 

3. APP/D3125/C/22/3306729 and APP/D3125/W/22/3308506 Diddly Squat Farm, Upper 

Court Farm and Curdle Hill Farm, Chadlington.  Appeal against enforcement notice on 

11 August 2022, breach of planning control and extension of car park. An outline was 

given of the appeal decision.  Committee asked for clarification on which part of appeal 

was refused and which was granted. Committee requested that a copy statement read 

out by the Development Manager be circulated to Committee Members.  

 

The Meeting closed at 3.07 pm 

 

CHAIR 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  

UPLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

Date: 21st August 2023 

 

 
REPORT OF THE BUSINESS MANAGER-DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development details of which are set out in the following pages. 

 

Recommendations: 

To determine the applications in accordance with the recommendations of the Strategic Director. 

The recommendations contained in the following pages are all subject to amendments in the light of 

observations received between the preparation of the reports etc and the date of the meeting. 

 

List of Background Papers 
 

All documents, including forms, plans, consultations and representations on each application, but 

excluding any document, which in the opinion of the ‘proper officer’ discloses exempt information as 

defined in Section 1001 of the Local Government Act 1972.        

                                                 

Please note that: 

 

1. Observations received after the reports in this schedule were prepared will be summarised in a 

document which will be published late on the last working day before the meeting and available 

at the meeting or from www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings  

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings


Item Application Number Address Officer 

11-44 

 

23/00536/OUT Land South Of Hit Or Miss 

Farm Banbury Road 

 

Joan Desmond 

 

45-76 

 

23/01504/OUT Land West Of London Lane 

 

Joan Desmond 

 

Page 10



 

Application Number 23/00536/OUT 

Site Address Land South Of Hit Or Miss Farm 

Banbury Road 

Chipping Norton 

Oxfordshire 

 

 

Date 9th August 2023 

Officer Joan Desmond 

Officer Recommendations Approve 

Parish Chipping Norton Parish Council 

Grid Reference 432417 E       227989 N 

Committee Date 21st August 2023 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  
 

 

Application Details: 

Outline planning application for up to 90 residential dwellings, including up to 40% affordable housing, 

creation of new vehicular access off Banbury Road and provision of public open space with associated 

landscape planting with associated infrastructure, drainage measures, earthworks and all other 

Page 11



associated works. All matters reserved except accessibility to the site, for vehicles in terms of the 

positioning and treatment of access to the site 

 

Applicant Details: 

Mr Grant Stevenson 

C/O Agent 

 

UK 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Env Health - Uplands  No comment 

 

 

Cotswolds Conservation Board Having reviewed the additional information provided by the applicant, 

including the photomontages of the development in views from the 

CNL boundary on Banbury Road (both in summer and winter 

conditions), we wish to withdraw our previous holding objection. 

The photomontages provide a useful illustration to support EDP's 

conclusions within their LVA that the advance planting along the 

Banbury Road frontage, if supplemented by suitable replacement 

planting of the removed Ash trees adjacent to the highway, should 

help to retain the 'soft approach' to Chipping Norton in the medium 

to long term (years 5 to 15) and reduce the visual impact of the 

development, helping to conserve the landscape and scenic beauty of 

the adjacent National Landscape. 

 

As such, noting that this is an outline application, we would wish to 

reiterate our previous comment that, without prejudice, should the 

Council be minded to approve the application, we recommend that 

any reserved matters application should pay particularly careful 

attention to the replacement and enhancement of tree planting and 

hedgerow along the roadside boundary to create a long-term screen 

to the development and maintain the distinctive soft, tree lined 

approach to Chipping Norton. Our remaining comments regarding 

landscape and visual impact and lighting also still stand. 

 

 

Cotswolds Conservation Board After having reviewed the information submitted by the applicant, the 

Board wishes to make a holding objection to this application and 

request a further assessment of the potential visual impact 

of the scheme upon the setting of the National Landscape, namely 

through the provision of a photomontage of the proposed 

development from photo viewpoint 1 of the applicant's Landscape and 

Visual Appraisal (LVA). The National Planning Policy Framework 

outlines at paragraph 176 how, as well as the 'great weight' to be 

given to the conservation and enhancement of the landscape and 

scenic beauty of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, development 

within the setting of AONBs "should be sensitively located and 

designed to avoid and minimise adverse impacts on the designated 

Page 12



areas". 

We consider that provision of this additional information is 

appropriate as this proposal is for a major residential development 

directly opposite the boundary of a nationally-designated landscape 

and the site's context has recently changed compared to that shown 

in the LVA due to the removal of many of the Ash trees along the site 

frontage. This will allow the Board to come to a conclusion as to 

whether or not we agree with the applicant's assessment of the scale 

of effect and impact upon the landscape and scenic beauty of the 

National Landscape. 

 

 

Adjacent Parish Council  No Comment Received. 

 

 

Parish Council Objection - Councillors would like to thank Rainier for taking the 

time to meet and discuss with them, and for addressing and amending 

plans based on their comments. 

Councillors note that this outline planning application for 90 

residential dwellings only encompasses a small portion of the land 

Rainier owns, which will likely be developed at a later point. 

Councillors stressed the need for a strategic development plan for 

the entirety of the land to address the pressure on already stressed 

infrastructure – including increased healthcare provision, water and 

sewage infrastructure upgrades, parking, and sports facilities. 

This proposed new development effectively draws a new residential 

boundary for Chipping Norton past the Cricket Club on Banbury 

Road. Considering the distance between the proposed development 

and the town centre and amenities including schools and shopping, 

Councillors discussed the need for pedestrian and cycling 

infrastructure linking this development to the current town and 

Strategic Development Area. 

Potential S106 requests at this point would include but are not limited 

to: Contributions to walking and cycling infrastructure, contributions 

towards the provision of additional healthcare services, contributions 

towards additional required provisions of childcare and education, 

identification of additional facilities for sports and play facilities. 

Specific S106 requests will be submitted as part of the full planning 

application consultation. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

Archaeology - The site is located in an area of considerable 

archaeological potential, particularly for the Roman period.  In 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 

2021, paragraph 194), we would therefore recommend that, prior to 

the determination of any planning application for this site the 

applicant should therefore be responsible for the implementation of 

an archaeological field evaluation.  This information can be used for 

identifying potential options for minimising or avoiding damage to the 

archaeology and on this basis, an informed and reasonable decision 

Page 13



can be taken. 

 

Transport - No objection subject to: 

 S106 Contributions  

 An obligation to enter into a S278 agreement as detailed 

below. 

 Planning Conditions 

 

LLFA - Objection - Phasing plan required 

 

Education - No objection subject to S106 contributions. 

 

Waste Management - No objection subject to S106 contribution. 

 

Landscape/Green Infrastructure - The District Council Landscape 

Officer should be consulted on the application. 

 

 

Conservation And Design 

Officer 

No Comment Received. 

 

 

WODC - Arts No Comment Received. 

 

 

WODC - Sports  The Council seeks to secure, by way of planning obligations off site 

contributions for: 

a) Outdoor pitch provision and ancillary facilities of £161,100 

towards enhancements and improvements to sports facilities 

within the catchment area. 

b) Sport hall/ studio provision of £43,997 toward the cost of an 

enhancement or improvement to sports halls/ studios in the 

catchment area. 

c) Swimming pool provision of £48,647 towards the cost of an 

enhancement or improvement to pools in the catchment 

area. 

 

Figures are index-linked to third quarter 2022 using the BCIS All in 

Tender Price Index published by RICS.  

 

 

Sport England South East The site is adjacent to Chipping Norton Cricket Club and therefore 

Sport England is conscious of the possible impact of ball strike on the 

new dwellings/residents. We were pleased to receive a ball 

strike assessment form the applicant. We have shared Labosport 

report with English Cricket Board (ECB). The following are their 

comments: 

 

The ECB recently visited Chipping Norton CC and now has a better 

'sense' of the overall environment on and around this cricket club. 

On the basis that the applicant follows and adopts the  

Page 14



recommendations within the Labosport Risk Assessment (page 11, 

alternative solution; a buffer zone of c24m), the ECB has no objection. 

Noting the consultation process detailed, the ECB would also 

recommend that some form of offsite mitigation be provided to 

support the club's infrastructure. 

We note paragraph 6.35 in the planning statement, that the developer 

is proposing not to implement the ball strike netting but rather 

provide the buffer zone between the cricket and the housing as per 

the recommendation on page 11 of the Labosport report. I also note 

the buffer zone is greater than the recommend by Labosport. 

We would also encourage WODC to consider that part of the 

contribution for Community Facilities identified in the Draft Heads of 

Terms is awarded to the cricket club. 

Conclusion and recommendation. 

Having assessed the application, Sport England is satisfied that the 

proposed development meets exception 3 of our playing fields policy, 

in that the proposed development affects only land incapable of 

forming part of a playing pitch and does not: 

 reduce the size of any playing pitch 

 result in the inability to use any playing pitch (including the 

maintenance of adequate safety margins and run-off areas); 

 reduce the sporting capacity of the playing field to 

accommodate playing pitches or the capability to rotate or 

reposition playing pitches to maintain their quality; 

 result in the loss of other sporting provision or ancillary 

facilities on the site; or 

 prejudice the use of any remaining areas of playing field on the 

site.' 

This being the case, Sport England does not wish to raise an objection 

to this application. 

 

District Ecologist Acceptable subject to conditions. 

 

ERS Air Quality I have the a number of queries regarding the air quality document 

submitted with the application.  It the light of the queries, I currently 

object to the application on the grounds of air quality, particularly in 

the absence of cumulative effectives with the ECNSDA. 

 

ERS Contamination Mr ERS Pollution Consultation The report details the findings of a 

desk based study and site walk over, the consultants recommend that 

an intrusive investigation is completed to confirm the findings of the 

desk based study. Given that investigation works are recommended 

please consider adding appropriate conditions to any grant of 

permission. 

 

Env Health - Uplands Mr ERS Pollution Consultation No objection to the proposal. 

When a FULL application is submitted I will be asking for the 

recommendations contained in the submitted noise report to be be 

conditioned in any approval. 

 

Page 15



 

WODC Housing Enabler Affordable Housing provided on this development could make an 

important contribution to local housing need. In addition to the 319 

applicants shown above, there are a further 2182 applicants on the 

overall waiting list who could benefit from the development of this 

site at time of writing. 

The application proposes that the mix and tenure of the affordable 

homes is agreed through the planning process. For reasons of 

affordability, I request that affordable homes for rental are provided 

as Social Rent tenure. I also request that First Homes are included in 

the affordable mix. 

I further request that, for the rental affordable homes, it is agreed 

that rents are capped at the relevant Local Housing Allowance for the 

Chipping Norton area. 

Of the 319 applicants shown above, 29 have indicated a need for 

ground floor accommodation or accommodation with lift access. I 

therefore request that this information is taken in to account in the 

design of the affordable homes. 

Policy H4 of the Local Plan includes a requirement (applicable to 

affordable and market housing) for the provision of homes designed 

to requirements of Building Regulations M4(2) and M4(3). I request 

that a layout is provided identifying plots designed to these standards. 

 

WODC Landscape And 

Forestry Officer 

As set out above, the proposal represents a site wide change of 

landscape character that would cause landscape and visual 

implications beyond the boundaries. In this instance, it is considered 

that this change would not cause undue landscape and visual change 

to the receiving landscape. 

 

Natural England NO OBJECTION - Based on the plans submitted, Natural England 

considers that the proposed development will not have significant 

adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites. 

Natural England's generic advice on other natural environment issues 

should be taken into consideration. 

 

 

Oxford Clinical Commissioning 

Group NHS 

This PCN area is already under pressure from nearby planning 

applications, and this application directly impacts on the ability of the 

Chipping Norton Health Centre surgery in particular, to provide 

primary care services to the increasing population. Primary Care 

infrastructure funding is therefore requested to support local plans to 

surgery alterations or capital projects to support patient services. 

The funding will be invested into other capital projects which directly 

benefit this PCN location and the practices within it if a specific 

project in the area is not forthcoming. A contribution of £77,760.00 is 

requested. 

 

WODC Planning Policy 

Manager 

The District Council acknowledges that it is currently unable to 

demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable housing land and the 'tilted 

balance' of the NPPF is engaged, whereby there is a presumption that 

Page 16



planning permission will be granted.  

Furthermore, as set out in the comments above, there have been 

delays in bringing forward a number of the larger local plan housing 

allocations and the housing requirement of the plan 'steps up' 

significantly from 2023/24 onwards. As such, it is quite reasonable to 

argue that the provision of 80 dwellings in this location would make a 

helpful contribution towards meeting the identified overall and sub-

area housing requirements. 

However, the site does not adjoin the built up areas and thus the 

provisions of Policy H2 relating to residential development in the 

open countryside apply. As outlined above, the application proposal 

does not accord with any of these provisions.  

The key issue therefore is whether the current application of the 

tilted balance is such that the harms identified by those responding to 

this proposal 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the benefits. 

The key benefits include the provision of additional housing to help 

meet the Council's five year and overall housing land supply, 

affordable housing, the provision of a range of elements of green 

infrastructure and the economic benefits development would bring.  

The potential harms, in part linked to the site lying beyond the built-

up area of the town, include: the impact on landscape and character; 

the distance from many of the town's services and facilities, resulting 

in the use of the private car (with a range of adverse implications, 

including air quality); and the implications for local infrastructure, 

including the water network. 

 

Designing Out Crime Officer I have some concerns with the proposed layout in terms of 

opportunities for crime and antisocial behaviour to occur, and 

therefore am unable to support this application in its current form. I 

appreciate this project is at an early stage, however I was somewhat 

disappointed to see that crime prevention and community safety is 

not a significant consideration in documents at this point. I ask that an 

addendum is added to the DAS which comprehensively addresses the 

issue of safety and security across the site prior to outline permission 

being granted. I also ask that suitable amendments are made to 

outline plans prior to permission being granted. 

I strongly encourage the applicant to consult the guidance provided by 

Secured By Design, and use the principles contained within the design 

guides to inform the design of the development, designing out crime 

from the outset. The principles of CPTED should be incorporated 

throughout the scheme. 

 

Thames Water Waste Comments 

With the information provided, Thames Water has been unable to 

determine the Foul water infrastructure needs of this application. 

Thames Water has contacted the developer in an attempt to obtain 

this information and agree a position for FOUL WATER drainage, but 

have been unable to do so in the time available and as such, Thames 

Water request that the following condition be added to any planning 

permission. "No development shall be occupied until confirmation has 

Page 17



been provided that either:-  

1. Foul water Capacity exists off site to serve the development, 

or  

2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been 

agreed with the Local Authority in consultation with Thames 

Water. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan 

is agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in 

accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure 

phasing plan, or  

3. All Foul water network upgrades required to accommodate 

the additional flows from the development have been 

completed. Reason – Network reinforcement works may be 

required to accommodate the proposed development. Any 

reinforcement works identified will be necessary in order to 

avoid sewage flooding and/or potential pollution incidents. 

important that the Local Planning Authority. 

4.  

The application indicates that SURFACE WATER will NOT be 

discharged to the public network and as such Thames Water has no 

objection, however approval should be sought from the Lead Local 

Flood Authority.  

 

Water Comments 

Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an 

inability of the existing water network infrastructure to accommodate 

the needs of this development proposal. Thames Water have 

contacted the developer in an attempt to agree a position on water 

networks but have been unable to do so in the time available and as 

such Thames Water request that the following condition be added to 

any planning permission. No development shall be occupied until 

confirmation has been provided that either:- all water network 

upgrades required to accommodate the additional demand to serve 

the development have been completed; or - a development and 

infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to 

allow development to be occupied. Where a development and 

infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation shall take place 

other than in accordance with the agreed development and 

infrastructure phasing plan. Reason - The development may lead to no 

/ low water pressure and network reinforcement works are 

anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made 

available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the 

new development"  

 

 

Parish Council In response to the amendments to the outline planning application for 

23/00536/OUT, Chipping Norton Town Council has the following 

comments: 

 

Members thanked the applicant for listening to previous feedback and 

comments from CNTC and making amendments to the proposed 

Page 18



designs and access points for pedestrian footpaths cycleways, and 

access toward London road. These amendments are very much 

welcomed.  

 

Members also remarked after reading the comments in support of the 

development noting that most cited the importance of the inclusion 

of affordable housing and infrastructure at the site. CNTC agrees with 

the comments from residents and would like to request that 

Grampian conditions regarding water and waste infrastructure are 

applied to the site 

 

 

District Ecologist No Comment Received. 

 

 

ERS Air Quality I have reviewed the revised air quality assessment and have no further 

objection to the application, subject to the following condition: 

 

A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

prior to the commencement of any work on site. The CEMP shall: 

identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to 

minimise the creation and impact of noise, vibration, dust, light 

spill/glare; provide details of the hours of operation; and, detail waste 

manage arrangements. The plan shall cover all aspects of the works, 

including site set up, site preparation, ground-work and construction 

phases of the development. It shall also include measures to manage 

heavy/large goods vehicle access to the site and measures to be 

employed to prevent the egress of mud, water and other detritus 

onto public and any non-adopted roads. 

 

Reason: To protect the amenity local residents & visitors, and ensure 

the safety of road users. 

 

 

Adjacent Parish Council No Comment Received. 

 

 

OCC Archaeological Services No Comment Received. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

Transport - As previous comments. 

 

Public Health - No objection 

 

LLFA - No objection subject to conditions 

 

Archaeology - As previous comments. 

 

 

Page 19



 

ERS Contamination I have looked at the letter dated 12th May 2023 in relation to 

contaminated land and potential risk to human health. In general the 

response to the question raised in my email dated 3rd April 2023 is 

considered to be sufficient.   

 

The conditions requested in my email dated 3rd April remain 

applicable. 

 

 

ERS Air Quality To remove my original objection, I would appreciate a response to 

the outstanding items queried below: 

Item 1. I do not agree that the absence of a planning application for 

the ECNSDA is a reason for not including this development in 

the air quality assessment, as the location, proposed number of 

houses and access points are known. However, I have further 

reviewed the AQA and appreciate the application being considered 

will not significantly increase the numbers of vehicles passing 

through the AQMA and, as the assessment stands, accept there is 

likely to be a negligible effect on the air quality. 

 

I welcome the willingness to include measures to encourage 

sustainable transport, and recommend any measures proposed are 

considered alongside the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan currently being compiled by Oxfordshire County Council. 

Item 3. Please note this item was a more of a comment, as parking is 

not a matter considered with regard to air quality. However, 

I do have one query regarding the explanation provided. It states that 

39 vehicles are predicted to travel south on Albion Street 

(not Road). 82 vehicles are predicted to travel south on West Street 

(B4026), which then split into 62 down Burford Road (A361) 

and 20 continue down West Street (B4450). This doesn't take into 

account the 39 travelling south down Albion Street - where do 

these vehicle go? Having re-calculated I have realised I missed out the 

14 vehicles travelling east along London Road (A44). 

Consequently, the only vehicles not accounted for are those travelling 

south on Albion Street. 

 

On a minor note - the initial split of the 209 vehicles travelling from 

the site, 156 down Banbury Road and 54 down Banbury Rd 

Crossing, adds up to 210. 

 

Item 4. The IAQM Guidance on the assessment of dust from 

demolition and construction Version 1.1, states a dust assessment 

should be conducted if there are sensitive receptors within 350m of 

the boundary of the site, regardless of the size of the 

development. There are numerous residential properties within this 

distance from the site boundary, hence my request for an 

assessment of dust from the construction of the development stands. 

This will inform the Construction Environmental 

Page 20



Management Plan which will be required for the construction phase. 

The typo on the combustion plant has not been rectified.  

 

Item 9. I accept the explanation provided in the report for the high 

predicted NO2 concentration. 

 

Item 11. The response does not explain why the rural profile was 

chosen in the first place. I would also like to see confirmation 

that an urban profile would not significantly change the outcome of 

the assessment, particularly in the AQMA. 

 

 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 A summary of the representations received are detailed below. Full details can be viewed on the 

Council's website. 

 

2.2  Four Letters of objection and comment: 

 Lies outside the Strategic Development Area.  Therefore it is not appropriate unless an 

equivalent amount of land that is in the proposed SDA is permanently released back to 

farmland. 

 The proposal will also further overload the Banbury Road from a traffic perspective and 

increase the burden on the towns already stretched facilities.(Schools,NHS etc). 

 Change of character to the rural approach to the town along the Banbury Road, giving a 

more urban appearance. 

 There is no public transport provision along the Banbury Road which would result in 

increased car usage thus adding to the existing parking problems in the town centre. 

 No need for development given SDA 

  Ribbon development along the Banbury Road 

 Damage to local ecology 

 

2.3 32 letters of support: 

 Acceptable impact on the cricket club 

 More housing is needed 

 This new development needs to be completed in a tasteful way and integrated into the 

community. But it will be bring more business and will also bring in more diversity 

 Need more affordable housing to help the younger generation to get onto the property 

ladder & purchase a home so they are not being forced to leave their local area 

 Ecology benefits 

 Support new housing but needs supporting local infrastructure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1 The submitted Planning Statement concludes as follows: 

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 is clear in requiring that 

planning applications should only be approved where they accord with the Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

The town benefits from a range of local services and facilities. The proposal relates well to the 

current built extent of the settlement and the scheme design will increase opportunities for 

connectivity. 

 

Consultation has been undertaken with the local community in respect of the proposals as set out 

in the accompanying Statement of Community Engagement. 

 

The range of studies that have been undertaken to support this planning application are 

summarised in Section 6 of this Statement and the accompanying reports. These demonstrate that 

a high quality of layout and design will be provided at the site, and that there are no 

environmental technical or other reasons why planning permission should not be granted in this 

case. 

 

Sustainable Development 

 

The proposals represent a sustainable development well related to the existing settlement and as 

such should be granted permission. Below the applicant sets out how the scheme complies with 

each of the three objectives of sustainable development, as defined within the NPPF. 

 

Economic 

Housing development is a key component of economic growth. The proposed development 

represents an efficient use of a sustainable site and land that is adjacent to the existing settlement 

of Chipping Norton. Chipping Norton is a sustainable location for development and is a town 

identified as a 'main service centre' in the adopted Local Plan. The provision of such housing will 

contribute positively to the local economy, through the provision of construction jobs in the 

short-term and providing local employees and additional council tax revenues in the longer-term. 

The development will also generate income through the New Homes Bonus and S106 

contributions which is a positive economic benefit. 

 

Social 

The application proposes up to 90 new homes, 40% of which will be affordable (in line with the 

NPPF's definition of such). The proposals will provide a mix of dwelling types and sizes, and there 

is an identified need for a mix of housing including affordable housing in the District. The 

proposals will clearly meet the social element of sustainable development, as they will help to 

address the housing needs of present and future generations. The social and health benefits arising 

from the inclusion of publicly accessible high-quality open space and green infrastructure which 

will provide amenity benefits to both existing and future residents. 

 

The proposals draw upon 20-minute neighbourhood principles, ensuring people can meet their 

everyday needs within a short walk or cycle, and has multiple benefits. These benefits include 

Page 22



tackling climate change, improving people's health and wellbeing, increasing social connections in 

communities and boosting the local economy. 

 

The proposals make effective use of the site, with residential development located and linked to 

adjacent existing built form, ensuring the development delivers housing in a location that is both 

sustainable as well as reducing the reliance on car ownership. 

Substantial areas of public open space have been incorporated into the proposals, improving 

biodiversity and encouraging opportunities for social and community cohesion. A mix of house 

types, tenures and sizes are proposed, limiting social exclusion and ensuring the creation of a truly 

varied and mixed community. 

 

Environmental 

The proposals include for the provision of new areas of accessible open-space, areas for 

ecological enhancement, SuDs and other green infrastructure. A wide range of ecology surveys 

have been undertaken and these confirm that it will be possible to develop the site. A net gain in 

biodiversity will also be achieved. 

 

The scheme demonstrates a provision of 3.31 ha of accessible public open space has been 

provided.  

 

The Planning Balance 

The applicant maintains that the proposal provides the opportunity to deliver a highquality 

residential scheme, which will meet a pressing need for market and affordable housing, and which 

is in a sustainable location. The proposal shall facilitate considerable benefits for new and existing 

residents, and for the settlement as a whole. Overall, the proposals are considered to comprise 

sustainable development that complies with the policies of the Framework and those parts of the 

Development Plan which are relevant. 

 

The Council are currently unable to demonstrate a five year housing land supply as confirmed 

through recent appeal decisions and these proposals would help to address this shortfall. Whilst 

there is a Neighbourhood Plan in place, it is more than 2 years old and as such the provisions of 

paragraph 14 of the NPPF will not be met. 

 

Accordingly, it is maintained that the proposed development represents sustainable development 

and should be deemed acceptable. We would respectfully ask that the LPA gives full consideration 

to the proposals contained therein and works with the applicant to grant outline planning 

permission. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS3NEW Prudent use of natural resources 

OS4NEW High quality design 

OS5NEW Supporting infrastructure 

H2NEW Delivery of new homes 

H3NEW Affordable Housing 

H4NEW Type and mix of new homes 

T1NEW Sustainable transport 

T2NEW Highway improvement schemes 

Page 23



T3NEW Public transport, walking and cycling 

EH1 Cotswolds AONB 

EH2 Landscape character 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

EH4 Public realm and green infrastructure 

EH5 Sport, recreation and childrens play 

EH6 Decentralised and renewable or low carbo 

EH7 Flood risk 

EH8 Environmental protection 

EH9 Historic environment 

EH13 Historic landscape character 

CN2 Chipping Norton sub-area Strategy 

CHIPNP Chipping Norton Neighbourhood Plan 

NPPF 2021 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NATDES National Design Guide 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

5  PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 The proposal is an outline planning application for up to 90 residential dwellings, including up to 

40% affordable housing, creation of new vehicular access off Banbury Road and provision of public 

open space with associated landscape planting with associated infrastructure, drainage measures, 

earthworks and all other associated works. All matters are reserved. 

 

5.2 The site is an undeveloped, greenfield plot located to the north-east of Chipping Norton, 

immediately adjacent to Chipping Norton Cricket Club to the south of Banbury Road. The very 

southern tip of the site touches the northern extremity of the proposed East Chipping Norton 

SDA which is allocated for the provision of 1,200 new homes and 5 ha of business land in the 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan.  The site measures 5.40ha in area. 

 

5.3 The site does not fall within the Cotswold AONB but it does lie immediately to the North of the 

site. 

 

5.4 Pre-application advice was provided in 2022 relating to a similar proposed form of development 

for up to 89 dwellings. 

 

5.5 A Screening opinion (23/00676/SCREEN) was issued in April 2023 advising that the development 

was not EIA development. 

 

5.6 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application 

are: 

 

 Principle  

 Layout, design and scale 

 Impact on Landscape/Setting of Cotswolds National Landscape (AONB) 

 Impact on Heritage Assets  

 Affordable Housing  

 Accessibility/Highway Issues 

Page 24



 Flood Risk/Drainage/Water Supply 

 Residential Amenity/Noise/Air Quality 

 Trees/Biodiversity  

 Sustainability/Climate Change  

 S106 Contributions 

 

The principle of the development 

 

The Development Plan 

5.7 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for 

planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development 

plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of 

West Oxfordshire, the Development Plan is the Local Plan 2031 adopted in September 2018. 

 

5.8 Policy OS2 sets out the overall strategy on the location of development within the district.  It 

adopts a 'hierarchal' approach with the majority of future homes and job opportunities to be 

focused on the main service centres of Witney, Carterton and Chipping Norton, followed by the 

rural service centres and then the villages.  

 

5.9 Policy H2 sets out that new dwellings will be permitted at the main service centres, rural service 

centres and villages in the following circumstances: 

 On sites that have been allocated for housing development within a Local Plan or 

relevant neighbourhood plan; 

 On previously developed land within or adjoining the built up area provided the loss of 

any existing use would not conflict with other plan policies and the proposal complies 

with the general principles set out in Policy OS2 and any other relevant policies in this 

plan; 

 On undeveloped land within the built up area provided that the proposal is in 

accordance with the other policies in the plan and in particular the general principles in 

Policy OS2. 

 On undeveloped land adjoining the built up area where convincing evidence is presented 

to demonstrate that it is necessary to meet identified housing needs, it is in accordance 

with the distribution of housing set out in Policy H1 and is in accordance with other 

policies in the plan in particular the general principles in Policy OS2. 

 

5.10 The application site is considered to be undeveloped land which does not adjoin the built up 

area and as such is viewed as being in open countryside, where new dwellings are only permitted 

where they comply with the general principles set out in Policy OS2 and in certain circumstances 

including where there is an essential operational or other specific local need that cannot be met in 

any other way. 

 

5.11 Policy OS2 also sets out general principles for all development. Of particular relevance to this 

proposal is that it should:  

a) Be of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context having regard to the potential 

cumulative impact of development in the locality; 

b) Form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development and/or the 

character of the area; 

Page 25



c) As far as reasonably possible protect or enhance the local landscape and its setting of the 

settlement; 

d) Not involve the loss of an area of open space or any other feature that makes an important 

contribution to the character or appearance of the area; 

e) Conserve and enhance the natural, historic and built environment; and 

f) Be supported by all the necessary infrastructure. 

 

5.12 The Chipping Norton Neighbourhood Plan (NP) partly covers the site at its western end.  The 

NP supports the reuse of brownfield land  

 

National Policy/Guidance 

5.13 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 

and how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF advices that the purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and sets out that there are 

three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. In essence, the 

economic role should contribute to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy; the 

social role should support strong, vibrant and healthy communities; and the environmental role 

should contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. These 

roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually dependant.  

 

5.14 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and paragraph 

11 advices that for decision-making this means approving development proposals that accord with 

an up-to-date development plan without delay, or where policies that are most important for 

determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be granted unless: 

 

I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

II. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 

5.15 The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites. Where local authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the NPPF, as set out above, is engaged (Identified in 

footnote 8).  

 

5.16 The Council's latest Housing Land Supply Position Statement (2022-2027) concludes that the 

Council is currently only able to demonstrate a 4.1 year supply, although recent appeal decisions 

suggest that this is lower.   Notwithstanding the figure, the provisions of paragraph 11d) of the 

NPPF is engaged in any case. 

 

5.17 In view of the above it is clear that the decision-making process for the determination of this 

application is therefore to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting planning permission for 

the proposed development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or 

whether there are specific policies in the framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance which provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed. These issues are 

considered in more detail below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

Layout/Design/Scale 

 

5.18 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF is clear that development proposals should function well and add to 

the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 

appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local character and history and create 

places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and have a high standard of amenity for existing and 

future users.  Policies OS2 and OS4 of the Local Plan reflect this advice and encourages 

development of a high quality design that responds positively to and respects the character of the 

site and its surroundings.  The importance of achieving high quality design is reinforced in the 

National Design Guide.  

 

5.19 A revised Land Use and Amount Parameter plan and illustrative masterplan have been 

submitted.  The Land Use and Amount Parameter Plan indicates a development zone within which 

up to 90 dwellings would be provided (2.37 ha).  This zone lies principally in the central and 

western part of the site with a landscape buffer area around the perimeters with open space and 

woodland planting area to the east.  55% of the site is to be open space. Attenuation basins are 

proposed to the south east as part of the proposed drainage strategy.  An indicative access route 

is proposed off the Banbury Road (A44).  The illustrative masterplan indicates a new 

pedestrian/cycle access onto the Banbury Road to the west.  The revised Land Use and Amount 

Parameter Plan seeks to address concerns relating to inadequate provision of space for 

equipped/designated play areas and Community Growing space.  The areas have been increased 

to accord with required standards.  An area (0.05ha) for children and youth combined natural play 

space and Community Gardening Space (0.06ha) is to be provided to the east of the proposed 

housing.  The dwellings heights are annotated to be a maximum height of two storeys. The 

updated Design and Access Statement indicates medium (35 dph) and high (40 dph) densities.  

Medium density housing is indicated along the perimeters of the development to the west, south 

and east and higher density is proposed near the site entrance and along the Banbury Road 

frontage and surrounding the central green space.   

  

5.20 The site is adjacent to Chipping Norton Cricket Club and therefore Sport England is conscious 

of the possible impact of ball strike on the new dwellings/residents. A ball strike assessment has 

been submitted and Sports England and the English Cricket Board (ECB) has no objection subject 

to adoption of the recommendations in respect of providing an appropriate buffer zone (c24m).  

The revised Land Use and Amount Plan indicates the minimum 24m offset from the cricket club 

boundary. 

 

5.21 The Thames Valley Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor has some concerns with the 

proposed layout in terms of opportunities for crime and antisocial behaviour to occur.  The 

updated DAS seeks to respond to these concerns and sets out a number of design principles in 

order to ensure that safe spaces that limit the opportunities for crime and the fear of crime are 

created.  These are based on Secured by Design (SBD) and Crime Prevention through 

Environmental Design (CPTED) principles.  Officers are content that the site would be able to 

accommodate the quantum of development proposed and that Secured By Design principles can 

be considered as part of a subsequent Reserved Matters application. 

 

5.22 Policy OS2 of the Local Plan seeks to respect the intrinsic character of the area and seeks to 

ensure that development forms a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of 

development and/or character of the area.  The Chipping Norton NP recognises that the town 

has a highly attractive landscape setting and Policy MP7 seeks to protect and where possible 

Page 27



enhance the high quality landscape setting of the town.  This proposal would extend development 

into the open countryside, along the Banbury Road and would fail to form a logical complement 

to the existing pattern of development and/or the character of the area and would fail to protect 

or enhance the local landscape and setting of the town, in conflict with Development Plan policies 

and advice in the NPPF.   

 

Impact on Landscape/Setting of Cotswolds National Landscape (AONB) 

 

5.23 The main body of the site is located within Landscape Character Area (LCA) 3: Enstone Uplands 

and Landscape Character Type (LCT): Semi-Enclosed Limestone Wolds of the West Oxfordshire 

Landscape Character Assessment (1998). This published Landscape Character Assessment 

provides a number of prevailing key characteristics that are present within this LCT. These are 

reproduced below: 

 

 Large-scale, smoothly rolling farmland occupying the limestone plateau and dipslope; 

 Land use dominated by intensive arable cultivation with only occasional pasture; 

 Generally large-scale fields with rectilinear boundaries formed by dry-stone walls and 

low hawthorn hedges with occasional trees, typical of later enclosures; 

 Some visual containment provided by large blocks and belts of woodland creating a 

semi-enclosed character; 

 Thin, well-drained calcareous soils and sparse natural vegetation cover and a somewhat 

impoverished 'upland' character; 

 Ash, hazel, field maple etc. conspicuous in hedgerows; 

 Distinctive elevated and expansive character in higher areas, with dominant sky; and  

 Moderate intervisibility. 

The prevailing character of the site aligns with a number of the above characteristics. The site also 

falls outside, but within the setting of the Cotswolds AONB. 

 

5.24 The site is predominantly characterised as a hedgerow and tree bound agricultural field. A 

narrow section of land is separated from the field and is present along the northern boundary of 

the site. This smaller area has a more varied character with some overgrown and mowed areas, 

examples of dumping and a caravan present. There is no development within the parcel.  All the 

site boundaries are comprised of vegetation to varying extents. The site occupies an elevated 

plateau that sits above the surrounding landscape. Beyond the plateau, the landform drops away 

before rising again which creates relatively narrow valleys within the local landscape 

 

5.25 The submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) concludes that the site is well 

located at the recent settlement edge and is within an area of low visibility, resulting primarily 

from the surrounding enclosing vegetation. From this starting point, the LVA process informed 

and reviewed the emerging masterplan for the proposed development. This assessment 

demonstrates the extent to which the sensitive layout and strategic planting proposed in the 

masterplan would mitigate views, substantially retain and reinforce the characteristic landscape 

fabric and pattern, and assimilate the proposed development into the settlement and rural 

landscape of the site context east of Chipping Norton. In addition, this LVA shows how the 

proposed development would make a positive contribution to recreational, visual, and wildlife 

amenity. Accordingly, this LVA concludes that the site has the capacity for the development as 

proposed on the masterplan, and that there is no 'in principle' or landscape or visual reason why 

the site should not be developed.  In terms of its impact on the Cotswolds AONB (now known as 

the Cotswolds National Landscape) and its Setting it finds that the level of effect of the proposals 

on the Cotswolds AONB and its setting would not constitute a reason for refusal. This is largely 

Page 28



due to the limited visibility to the site from within the AONB, owing to the wooded nature of the 

AONB adjacent to the site, and the limited visibility to the AONB across the site and context due 

to the layering effect of vegetation in this plateau landscape. In addition, the AONB is urbanised, 

to some extent, so reducing the scale of change resulting from the proposals. 

 

5.26 The Council's Landscape Consultant (LC) has commented as follows: 

 

Impact on Public Visual Amenity - Field survey has confirmed that the visual envelope of the site is 

generally limited to the local area by intervening features such as vegetation and built form. Visual 

change within the site would be represented by the introduction of built form across the 

site area. This change could be appreciated from public viewpoints. Multiple layers of intervening 

vegetation exist in the landscape that filters views into the site. If built a landscape framework 

similar to what has been submitted is likely to further limit the appreciation of visual change. The 

most prevalent views are from Burford Road to the north. It is proposed that development will 

be set back from this boundary with the intervening vegetation retained. 

 

Impact on the Character of the Landscape - It is considered that the introduction of the proposed 

quantum of development and its associated infrastructure is likely to be achievable without 

substantial negative landscape change. The setting back of development from the edges and 

enhancement of vegetative boundary features reinforces an aim of the character area. The 

provision of publicly accessible open space and new woodland planting also increases the Green 

Infrastructure value of the site. 

 

Impact on setting of the Cotswolds AONB - Having given consideration to the Special Qualities of 

the AONB as set out by the Cotswolds Conservation Board (CCB) it is considered that given the 

existing context within and around the site the proposal is unlikely to unduly impact on these 

special qualities. 

 

In terms of other Landscape and Visual Considerations, the LC notes: 

 The introduction of built form to the site would remove the open character of the field and 

introduce further development onto the historically undeveloped plateau to the north east 

of Chipping Norton. The presence of the neighbouring and recently developed settlement 

edge to the south west does not alone justify further encroachment into the rural landscape; 

 Visually the site is well contained by layers of vegetation within the landscape. Visual 

receptors who would experience the most change are neighbouring pedestrians and 

motorists. The appearance of residential development in this location would not be 

incongruent given the existing context within the area; 

 No detracting features that aren't easily rectified (i.e. dumping/fly-tipping) are present that 

represent harm to the sites rural baseline landscape character; 

 The published landscape character assessment is highlighted above (West Oxfordshire 

Landscape Character Assessment, 1998). At a site specific scale the site shares a number of 

key features highlighted within the study. The proposed development is likely to accord with 

these characteristics due to what is being proposed and the existing context of the local 

area; 

 If permitted, footpath provision should be provided to the neighbouring allocated land. 

This would increase permeability within the area and link Green Infrastructure resources. 

 

5.27 The Cotswolds Conservation Board (now known as the Cotswolds National Landscape Board) 

has raised a holding objection to this application and request a further assessment of the potential 

visual impact of the scheme upon the setting of the National Landscape, namely through the 

Page 29



provision of a photomontage of the proposed development from Banbury Road (photoviewpoint 

1 of the LVA).  If permission is granted the CNLB recommend that any reserved matters 

application should pay particularly careful attention to the replacement and enhancement of tree 

planting and hedgerow along the roadside boundary to create a long-term screen to the 

development and maintain the distinctive soft, tree lined approach to Chipping Norton and a 

conditions relating to external lighting. 

 

5.28 A Landscape Technical Note has been submitted including a photomontage of the proposed 

development from photo viewpoint 1.  The Note concludes that the findings of the LVA are 

supported by the verified views and do not need to be revised as a result of these illustrations. 

Accordingly, the conclusions of the LVA remain unchanged: that the site has the capacity for the 

development as proposed on the masterplan, and that there is no 'in principle' or landscape or 

visual reason why the site should not be developed.  Having reviewed the additional information 

the CNLB withdraw their previous holding objection on the grounds that the photomontages 

provide a useful illustration to support EDP's conclusions within their LVA that the advance 

planting along the Banbury Road frontage, if supplemented by suitable replacement planting of the 

removed Ash trees adjacent to the highway, should help to retain the 'soft approach' to Chipping 

Norton in the medium to long term (years 5 to 15) and reduce the visual impact of the 

development, helping to conserve the landscape and scenic beauty of the adjacent National 

Landscape. 

  

5.29 In conclusion, the proposed development would encroach into the rural landscape and would 

result in the loss of what is currently an open undeveloped area.  Its replacement with housing, 

streets, potential lights and associated human activity would clearly have an adverse effect on the 

rural appearance and character of the landscape, although, it is recognised that in the longer term, 

its impact could be mitigated through appropriate landscaping to reduce its visual impact.   

Nevertheless, the proposal would result in landscape harm and this is a matter that must be put 

into the planning balance to weigh against the proposal.  

 

Impact on heritage assets 

 

5.30 There are no nationally designated heritage assets located within the site. However, there is a 

Scheduled Monument (Over Norton bowl barrow 150m north west of the intersection between 

the A361 and the A34(T)) located approximately 200m northeast of the site. There are 2 listed 

buildings located in proximity to the site, Grade II listed Chapel House and attached Cottage 

(0.3km east) and Grade II listed Gate Piers (0.3 km west of the site), however both of these 

buildings are separated from the site by intervening development. 

 

5.31 Section 16 of the NPPF sets out guidance on conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF provides when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 

asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 

irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 

substantial harm to its significance.   Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 

heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 

require clear and convincing justification.  Where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 

viable use.  

 

Page 30



5.32 The submitted Archaeology and Heritage Statement concludes that the proposed development 

of the site would not give rise to any loss of significance from any designated heritage assets which 

are located within its wider surroundings.  

 

5.33 In terms of archaeology, the site is located in an area of considerable archaeological potential, 

particularly for the Roman period. Whilst a geophysical survey has been carried out on the site, 

the County Archaeological Officer has requested the need for an archaeological evaluation in 

order to provide information on the date and level of survival of features recorded as well as to 

test whether further features survive that were not identified by the survey.  Such an evaluation 

has now been carried out and the comments of the County Archaeological Officer are awaited.  

Members will be updated at Committee. 

 

Affordable Housing 

 

5.34 Adopted Policy H3 of the Local Plan requires sites within the identified 'Medium Zone' to 

provide 40% affordable housing on sites of 11 or more dwellings. The proposed development of 

up to 90 dwellings would provide 40% affordable housing, equivalent to up to 36 dwellings. 

 

5.35 The Council's Housing Enabling Officer has advised that affordable Housing provided on this 

development could make an important contribution to local housing need. The application 

proposes that the mix and tenure of the affordable homes is agreed through the planning process. 

For reasons of affordability, it is requested that affordable homes for rental are provided as Social 

Rent tenure. First Homes should also be included in the affordable mix.  For the rental affordable 

homes, it should be agreed that rents are capped at the relevant Local Housing Allowance for the 

Chipping Norton area.  Many of the applicants have indicated a need for ground floor 

accommodation or accommodation with lift access and it is requested that this information is 

taken in to account in the design of the affordable homes.  Policy H4 of the Local Plan includes a 

requirement (applicable to affordable and market housing) for the provision of homes designed to 

requirements of Building Regulations M4(2) and M4(3).  The detailed layout should be provided 

identifying plots designed to these standards.  These recommendations could be secured via a 

S106 agreement/reserved matters stage. 

 

Accessibility/Highway Issues 

 

5.36 Whilst the submitted application form indicates that all matters are reserved, details have been 

submitted in relation to access into the site.  The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) details 

the proposed access strategy as follows: 

 

'Vehicular access to the site will be achieved via the construction of a new priority T-junction 

(with ghost island right-turn lane) with Banbury Road, around 290m southwest of the junction 

with the A361 / A3400. The junction includes the following: 

 

 Widening of the existing carriageway (on the southern side of Banbury Road) to provide 

3.5m wide through lanes on Banbury Road and a 3.5m wide ghost island right-turn lane 

(deceleration length of 80m); 

 Site access road of 6m width (it is envisaged that this would be reduced to 5.5m width 

within the development), 2m wide footways on both sides with dropped kerbs / tactile 

paving to facilitate crossing movements of the junction bellmouth; 

 Provision of 15m corner radii and corner taper of 1:10, over a distance of 25m; and 

Page 31



 Visibility splays of 2.4m x 215m, commensurate with the standards for Stopping Sight 

Distance (SSD) for speeds of up to 100kph. 

 

5.37 The footway on the east side of the site access road would route northeast along the south side 

of Banbury Road, crossing to the existing footway on the north side of Banbury Road via a new 

refuge crossing, located around 25m northeast of the junction centreline.  The footway on the 

west side of the site access road would route southwest along the south side of Banbury Road, 

connecting to existing footway provision at the access to the cricket club. Southwest of the 

junction, a new refuge crossing would facilitate crossing movements to the footway on the north 

side of Banbury Road and proposed bus stop infrastructure. Further to the southwest, a 

pedestrian access from the footway would be provided.  It is also proposed to provide new bus 

stops along the site frontage, which would provide appropriate bus stop infrastructure within the 

immediate vicinity of the site. 

 

5.38 The TA recognises that existing bus services passing the site are limited but argues that the 

proposals would result in an increase in demand for public transport and therefore increase 

viability for potential improvements to existing services and the frequency of these. The TA 

concludes that: 

 The site is accessible for non-car modes, with well-established links to existing facilities 

available via walking and cycling modes and public transport options available near the site; 

 Safe and suitable access can be provided to / from the site for all users; 

 The development has been designed with reference to national and local guidance; and 

 The impact of the proposed development will not be 'severe', meeting the requirements of 

local policy and the NPPF. The application is accompanied by a TP that will promote the 

uptake of sustainable travel opportunities. 

 

5.39 A subsequent Technical Note on Transport Sustainability principally reiterates the TA and 

concludes that: 

'The review has identified that a range of day-to-day facilities are within walking distance of the site, 

accessible via the existing pedestrian network and proposed access arrangements. Future employment, 

education and local centre facilities, to be delivered as part of the East Chipping Norton SDA, would also 

be within walking distance. The entirety of Chipping Norton and the neighbouring settlements such as 

Salford and Great Rollright are located within cycling distance of the site. Bus stops in the wider town area 

provide access to hourly services to / from Oxford. Rail services to destinations further afield are accessible 

from Kingham railway station. The proposed access strategy includes appropriate measures to ensure that 

opportunities for use of sustainable transport for travel to day-to-day facilities are maximised. These 

include active travel connections to existing infrastructure (facilitated by new crossing provision, where 

appropriate) and provision of new bus stops along the site frontage, which will safeguard for potential 

future routeing of services that could occur. This will be further promoted through the internal road layout 

and parking provision (to be agreed at reserved matters stage) and through measures included as part of 

the TP.' 

 

5.40 A revised access arrangement plan has also been submitted to include the provision of a 3m 

wide cycle track between the access and the cricket club entrance, as requested by OCC 

Transport. 

 

5.41 OCC Transport has advised that the access strategy and arrangements indicated in the 

submitted drawings are considered to be acceptable.  The Banbury Road is subject to the 

National Speed Limit (60mph) at the entrance and the visibility splays have been determined 

accordingly at 215m. OCC are confident that adequate visibility can be achieved given the straight 

Page 32



road and the highway boundary. However, it is usual for the speed limit to be relocated so that 

the access falls within the lower speed applied to the remainder of the built-up area on the 

approach to a town or village. In this situation, OCC consider that it would be sensible for the 

40mph limit to commence at the exit from the A3400 roundabout. The speed limit change would 

require a Traffic Regulation Order, so a contribution is requested to cover the costs of the 

consultation.  

 

5.42 In terms of sustainable transport connectivity, it is noted that the site is not ideally located for 

public transport access and that there is a very limited bus service passing the site.  However, 

OCC comment that as bus service improvements progress with S106 funded enhancements, the 

number of journeys on Banbury Road will increase. The proposed bus stops are therefore 

welcome (and indeed required) and need to be delivered as part of the S278 works.  

 

5.43 OCC Transport has raised no objection to the application subject to S106 contributions 

towards improvements to public transport services, traffic regulation order and travel plan 

monitoring; an obligation to enter into a S278 agreement and appropriate highway conditions.   

 

5.44 In terms of active travel, as detailed above, the TN on Transport Sustainability identifies the site 

as being within walking distance (a 24 minute/2km walk) from a range of day-to-day facilities. It is 

important to note however, that Chipping Norton is a hill town and this will affect 'standard 

assumptions' about walking and cycling distances and times. For example, there is about a 40m 

(AOD) difference between the site and the town centre.  It is also worth noting that the 

Government's National Design Guide, in highlighting the range of benefits for people of living in a 

well-designed, compact and walkable neighbourhood, states that 'walkable' is where local facilities 

are no more than a 10-minute walk (800m radius).  In light of climate and health emergencies, 

many in the planning and public health professions are advocating the merits of 20-minute 

neighbourhoods. Again these are seen as places designed so that residents can meet their day-to-

day needs within a 20-minute return walk of their home (equivalent to 800m).  

 

5.45 Many of the town's existing facilities and services lie beyond such distances from the site. One of 

the principal objectives of the Chipping Norton Neighbourhood Plan is to ensure that new 

development is well connected to the rest of the town and surrounding area, especially by public 

transport, walking and cycling. This is reflected in Policy TM7 which states that 'Development 

should be well connected to other parts of the town. Attractive and safe walking and cycling 

routes towards the town centre and other community facilities should be provided to serve new 

development'. Policy TM8 also states that 'Developments should take account of the movement 

needs of people of all abilities on pavements, pathways and road crossing points. Access to new 

developments should flow seamlessly from the existing pedestrian network and prove easy for all 

to navigate'. The provision of public transport, therefore, becomes even more significant, not least 

because of the town centre being designated an Air Quality Management Area.  The supporting 

documents also see the site's position in relation to the SDA as important for accessing new and 

existing services and facilities and providing pedestrian and cyclist routes. Given the delay in the 

delivery of the SDA, this provision cannot be relied upon.  Neither are any potential connections 

identified in this proposal to the SDA and would be hard to be provided given that this site only 

abuts the SDA in the far south west corner. 

 

5.46 In conclusion, whist there is no objection raised by OCC Transport, this site is somewhat 

remote from the town with access from the town via a steep hill and as such has poor active 

travel credentials which must weigh against the scheme in the overall planning balance. 

 

Page 33



Flood Risk/Drainage/Water Supply 

 

5.47 The site is located within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) for tidal and fluvial flooding.  The flood risk 

from other sources such as groundwater, sewers and artificial water bodies is also low. The 

proposed development use is classified as 'more vulnerable' under the Planning Practice Guidance 

which is suitable for a Flood Zone 1 site. 

 

5.48 The site is not currently positively drained at present. New foul and surface water networks 

would be constructed to collect flows generated by the development. Surface water flows would 

be discharged via a sustainable drainage solution. It is proposed to discharge flows via an 

infiltration method with SuDS features incorporated throughout the site. It is proposed to 

discharge foul flows to the existing public foul sewer located within the nearby vicinity of the site. 

The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk and Drainage Statement.  In summary the 

statement concludes that the proposed development will not demonstrate a significant flood risk 

to the site from surface water or overland flows, existing sewers, groundwater or artificial 

waterbodies. 

 

5.49 Following the submission of additional information, the Lead Local Flood Authority has no 

objection to the application subject to a drainage condition.  Thames Water has also no objection 

to the application subject to drainage conditions. 

 

Trees/Biodiversity 

 

5.50 The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Implications Assessment which advises that 

master planning of the development has been informed by arboricultural recommendations 

throughout with new tree planting recommended to ensure succession of the existing tree stock 

on site.  The report concludes that suitably worded condition can secure any mitigation measures 

which would be required to minimise harm and ensure safe, long-term retention to trees.  The 

application is accompanied by a tree protection plan which identifies existing trees to be retained 

and managed in accordance with British Standards Guide Lines.  

 

5.51 Policy EH3 states that development should protect and enhance biodiversity to achieve an 

overall net gain in biodiversity. The application is accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal which 

advises that the habitat features present and limited size of the site provide relatively limited 

opportunity for protected or notable faunal species. It is considered that any populations present 

could be readily safeguarded through appropriate mitigation measures, sensitive timing of works 

and the appropriate design of any future development proposals, with habitat retention, buffering, 

enhancement and creation of areas of higher ecological value within areas of public open space. 

The Biodiversity Statement advises the scheme will deliver a net gain in biodiversity as a result of 

the development of the site.  An additional Biodiversity Impact Assessment Addendum has been 

submitted which again concludes that overall, the scheme is capable of delivering a measurable net 

gain to biodiversity, and the scheme remains capable of delivering biodiversity net gain in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), local planning policies, and the 

future requirements of the Environment Act 2021. 

 

5.52 The Biodiversity Officer raises no objection to the application subject to conditions to ensure 

protection of priority species and habitats and secure biodiversity net gain. Natural England (NE) 

has also advised that based on the plans submitted, NE considers that the proposed development 

will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites. 

 

Page 34



Residential Amenity/Noise/Air Quality 

 

5.53 As this is an outline application, the size, position, orientation of dwellings are not being 

assessed. Impacts on residential amenity including suitable interface distances and relationships as 

regards adequate light would be fully assessed and taken account of at reserved matters stage.   

However, issues such as noise, air quality and contamination can be considered.  

 

5.54 In terms of noise, the application is accompanied by a noise assessment which assessed the 

suitability of the site for residential development, based on the measured noise levels at the site 

and the outline development proposals.  The report concludes that the site is predicted to meet 

the requirements of the relevant British Standard and planning guidance and it is considered that 

noise does not present a constraint to the development in its proposed form.  The Environmental 

Health Officer has no objection to the application subject to a condition to ensure 

implementation of the recommendations in the noise assessment report. 

 

5.55 A Phase 1 ground investigation study has been undertaken which concludes that the site has had 

no previous historical uses; therefore, the preliminary contamination potential of the site is 

assessed as low.  The ERS Contamination Officer recommends appropriate conditions. 

 

5.56 A revised Air Quality Assessment has been submitted in support of this application which 

concludes that the operational air quality effects on locations of human exposure without 

additional mitigation are judged to be 'not significant'; and the air quality impacts of local emissions 

sources on the Proposed Development will be 'not significant' in terms of compliance with AQOs 

and LVs. The Air Quality Officer has no further objection to the application, subject to a 

condition requiring the approval of a Construction Environmental Management Plan. 

 

5.57 The application is also supported by a Health Impact Assessment which concludes that the 

proposed development will not result in negative impacts on the health of the existing or future 

population of the immediate and local areas that cannot be effectively mitigated. Notwithstanding 

this, the proposed development is assessed as making a number of positive contributions in terms 

of health and wellbeing, many of these having a particular impact in terms of identified potentially 

vulnerable groups.  Public Health at OCC raise no objection to the application. 

 

Sustainability/Climate Change 

 

5.58 A Sustainability Statement and Energy Statement has been submitted which sets out measures to 

mitigate and adapt to climate change including measures to design buildings to reduce carbon 

emissions in accordance with the 2025 FHS through the use of energy hierarchy and fabric first 

approach to reduce energy demand, helping to mitigate the effects of climate change and 

delivering Net Zero Ready homes; Specification of water efficient fittings to reduce water 

consumption to 110 litres per person per day in line with the government's higher water 

efficiency standard and designing homes to take into account increasing annual temperatures set 

out in the UKCP18 climate projections to minimise the risk of overheating. 

 

5.59 Whilst consideration is being given to sustainable design and construction within this proposal, it 

is disappointing that much of the proposal lacks ambition, focusing on meeting policy 

requirements and building regulations, rather than striving for higher standards. One of the 

principal objectives of the Chipping Norton Neighbourhood Plan is to ensure that all new 

dwellings are built to exemplary environmental standards. 

 

Page 35



Summary of S106 contributions 

 

5.60 Policy OS5 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development delivers or contributes 

towards the provision of essential supporting infrastructure. 

 

5.61 The applicant has referred to the provision of 40% affordable housing which is a policy 

compliant contribution. This will be comprised of affordable housing with the exact mix to be the 

subject of a legal agreement.  

 

5.62 Matters relating to the provision of Green Infrastructure, play areas and open space will also be 

secured via the legal agreement together with required monitoring costs. The following 

contributions towards sports and recreational facilities requested are: 

 Outdoor pitch provision and ancillary facilities of £161,100 towards enhancements and 

improvements to sports facilities within the catchment area. 

 Sport hall/ studio provision of £43,997 toward the cost of an enhancement or improvement 

to sports halls/ studios in the catchment area. 

 Swimming pool provision of £48,647 towards the cost of an enhancement or improvement 

to pools in the catchment area. 

 

5.63 Various on and off site contributions have been sought, as set out in the consultee responses. 

Those contributions are set out below;  

 

OCC seeks: 

£101,970 towards public transport services. 

£1558 towards the cost of monitoring the Travel Plan 

£3,600 towards a Traffic Regulation Order for the relocation of the extent of the speed limit. 

£44,871 towards special school education capacity serving the development. 

£8,456 towards the expansion and efficiency of household waste and recycling centres. 

 

5.64 In terms of health care, the NHS has requested a contribution of £77, 760 towards primary care 

infrastructure funding. 

 

Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 

5.65 In this case, there are material considerations which indicate that the application should be 

decided otherwise in respect of the development plan. As we cannot demonstrate evidence of a 

five year supply of deliverable housing sites the relevant development plan policies for the supply 

of housing are out-of-date and that is a material consideration that can justify a departure from 

the plan and the grant of planning permission.  

 

5.66 Where policies for the supply of housing are out of date, para.11 of the NPPF requires a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development and that planning permission be granted unless 

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. In 

order to judge whether a development is sustainable it must be assessed against the three 

dimensions of sustainable development set out in the NPPF: the economic, social and 

environmental planning roles.  

 

5.67 With regards to the economic dimension of sustainability, the Government has made clear its 

views that house building plays an important role in promoting economic growth. In economic 

terms, the proposal would provide construction jobs and local investment during construction, as 

Page 36



well as longer term expenditure in the local economy. I consider that moderate weight should be 

afforded to these benefits.  

 

5.68 The proposal would positively support the delivery of housing, including affordable housing. 

There is a need for market and affordable homes within our district and the proposal would 

contribute towards this at a time of housing need. I attach significant weight to this social benefit. 

There would also be social and health benefits arising from the inclusion of publicly accessible 

open space and green infrastructure which would provide amenity benefits to both existing and 

future residents although this would be expected to be delivered in any case and as such is given 

limited weight. 

 

5.69 In terms of the environmental dimension this proposal would extend development into the 

open countryside, along the Banbury Road and would fail to form a logical complement to the 

existing pattern of development and/or the character of the area and would harm the local 

landscape and setting of the town.  In addition, the proposed development is somewhat remote 

from the town with access via a steep hill and as such has poor active travel credentials.  Public 

transport access is also limited.  These harms weigh against the development.   

 

5.70 The proposed development would not give rise to any loss of significance from any designated 

heritage assets which are located within its wider surroundings. 

 

5.71 The proposal now provides adequate drainage details to demonstrate adequate water 

management and would result in biodiversity net gain, which accords with Policy EH3 of the Local 

Plan. 

 

5.72 A reduced timeframe for the reserved matters to be submitted and for development to begin 

ensures the development makes a meaningful contribution to the housing shortfall in the District. 

 

5.73 Turning to the planning balance as directed by paragraph 11 of the NPPF. Taking all of the above 

into consideration, it is officer opinion that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission 

would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits and as such, planning permission 

should be granted. 

 

5.74 The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to the suggested conditions and 

the applicant entering into a legal agreement. 

 

6 CONDITIONS 

 

1.  

 

a) Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning Authority 

before the expiration of two years from the date of this permission; and 

b) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of four years 

from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 

approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 as amended. 

 

Page 37



2. Details of the layout, appearance, landscaping, scale and accessibility within the site (herein 

called the reserved matters) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority before any development begins and the development shall be carried out as approved. 

 

REASON: The application is not accompanied by such details. 

 

3. That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 

 

4. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, full design details of the 

means of access between the land and the highway, including, position, layout, construction, 

drainage, and vision splays shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Thereafter and prior to first occupation the means of access shall be constructed and 

retained in accordance with the approved details. 

 

REASON - In the interests of highway safety and to comply with Government guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

5. The vision splays shall not be obstructed by any object, structure, planting or other material of a 

height exceeding 0.6m measured from the carriageway level. 

 

REASON - In the interests of highway safety and to comply with government guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

6. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved; a construction traffic 

management plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

The CTMP will need to incorporate the following in detail: 

 

 The CTMP must be appropriately titled, include the site and planning permission 

number. 

 Routing of construction traffic and delivery vehicles is required to be shown and signed 

appropriately to the necessary standards/requirements. This includes means of access 

into the site. 

 Details of and approval of any road closures needed during construction. 

 Details of and approval of any traffic management needed during construction. 

 Details of wheel cleaning/wash facilities - to prevent mud etc, in vehicle tyres/wheels, 

from migrating onto adjacent highway. 

 Details of appropriate signing to accord with standards/requirements, for pedestrians 

during construction works, including any footpath diversions. 

 The erection and maintenance of security hoarding / scaffolding if required. 

 A regime to inspect and maintain all signing, barriers etc. 

 Contact details of the Project Manager and Site Supervisor responsible for on-site 

works to be provided. 

 The use of appropriately trained, qualified and certificated banksmen for guiding 

vehicles/unloading etc. 

 No unnecessary parking of site related vehicles (worker transport etc) in the vicinity - 

details of where these will park, and occupiers transported to/from site 

 Layout plan of the site that shows structures, roads, site storage, compound, pedestrian 

routes etc. 

Page 38



 Local residents to be kept informed of significant deliveries and liaised with through the 

project. Contact details for person to whom issues should be raised with in first 

instance to be provided and a record kept of these and subsequent resolution. 

 Any temporary access arrangements to be agreed with and approved by Highways 

Depot. 

 Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must be outside 

network peak and school peak hours. 

 

The approved CTMP shall be adhered to throughout the development. 

 

REASON: To safeguard the means to ensure that the character and appearance of the area, living 

conditions and road safety are in place before work starts. 

 

7. Construction shall not begin until/prior to the approval of; a detailed surface water drainage 

scheme for the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme shall be subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details before the development is completed. The scheme shall include: 

 

 A compliance report to demonstrate how the scheme complies with the "Local 

Standards and Guidance for Surface Water Drainage on Major Development in 

Oxfordshire"; 

 Full drainage calculations for all events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% 

climate change; 

 A Flood Exceedance Conveyance Plan; 

 Comprehensive infiltration testing across the site to BRE DG 365 (if applicable) 

 Detailed design drainage layout drawings of the SuDS proposals including cross-section 

details; 

 Detailed maintenance management plan in accordance with Section 32 of CIRIA C753 

including maintenance schedules for each drainage element, and; 

 Details of how water quality will be managed during construction and post development 

in perpetuity; 

 Confirmation of any outfall details. 

 Consent for any connections into third party drainage systems 

 

REASON: To ensure the proper provision for surface water drainage and/ or to ensure flooding is 

not exacerbated in the locality. 

 

8. Prior to first occupation, a record of the installed SuDS and site wide drainage scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for deposit with the Lead 

Local Flood Authority Asset Register. The details shall include: 

 

a) As built plans in both .pdf and .shp file format; 

b) Photographs to document each key stage of the drainage system when installed on site; 

c) Photographs to document the completed installation of the drainage structures on site; 

d) The name and contact details of any appointed management company information. 

 

REASON: To ensure the proper provision for surface water drainage and/ or to ensure flooding 

is not exacerbated in the locality. 

 

Page 39



9. No dwelling shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that foul water capacity 

exists off site to serve the development. 

 

REASON: Network reinforcement works may be required to accommodate the proposed 

development. Any reinforcement works identified will be necessary in order to avoid sewage 

flooding and/or potential pollution incidents. 

 

10. No dwelling shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that all water network 

upgrades required to accommodate the additional demand to serve the development have been 

completed. 

 

REASON: The development may lead to no / low water pressure and network reinforcement 

works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to 

accommodate additional demand anticipated from the new development. 

 

11. No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent of 

contamination has been carried out in accordance with a methodology which has previously 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The results of the site 

investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority before any development 

begins. If any significant contamination is found during the site investigation, a report specifying 

the measures to be taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for the development hereby 

permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before 

any development begins. 

 

REASON: To ensure any contamination of the site is identified and appropriately remediated.  

 

12. The Remediation Scheme, as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, shall be fully 

implemented in accordance with the approved timetable of works and before the development 

hereby permitted is first occupied. Any variation to the scheme shall be agreed in writing with 

the Local Planning Authority in advance of works being undertaken. On completion of the 

works the developer shall submit to the Local Planning Authority written confirmation that all 

works were completed in accordance with the agreed details. 

If, during the course of development, any contamination is found which has not been identified 

in the site investigation, additional measures for the remediation of this contamination shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The remediation of the site 

shall incorporate the approved additional measures. 

 

REASON: To ensure any contamination of the site is identified and appropriately remediated. 

 

13. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works and vegetation clearance) 

until a Construction Environmental Management Plan - Biodiversity (CEMP-B) has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP-B shall include, 

but not necessarily be limited to, the following: 

 

 Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities; 

 Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones'; 

 Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or 

reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements); 

 Precautionary working method statement for nesting birds, tree roosting bats, 

commuting bats, badgers, reptiles and terrestrial mammals; 

Page 40



 The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features (e.g. 

daylight working hours only starting one hour after sunrise and ceasing one hour before 

sunset);  

 The times during construction when specialists ecologists need to be present on site to 

oversee works; 

 Responsible persons and lines of communication; 

 The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 

competent person(s); 

 Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs, including advanced 

installation and maintenance during the construction period; and Ongoing monitoring, 

including compliance checks by a competent person(s) during construction and 

immediately post-completion of construction works. 

 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period 

strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 

REASON: To ensure that protected and priority species and habitats are safeguarded in 

accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), The Hedgerow Regulations 1997, Circular 

06/2005, paragraphs 174, 179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 15), 

Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire District Local Plan 2031, and in order for the Council to 

comply with Part 3 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 

14. An Ecological Design Strategy (EDS) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 

planning authority before the commencement of the development hereby approved. The plan 

shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following information: 

 

 Details of planting such as, hedgerows, woodland planting, species-rich grasslands, tree 

planting, scattered scrub and wildlife pond planting; 

 Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native species of local 

provenance; 

 Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed 

phasing of the development; 

 Details of integrated bird and bat boxes, reptile hibernacula and hedgehog friendly 

fencing; 

 Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance and persons responsible for the 

maintenance. 

 

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all features shall be 

retained in that manner thereafter.  

 

REASON: To protected and enhance the site for biodiversity in accordance with paragraphs 174, 

179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy EH3 of West Oxfordshire Local 

Plan and in order for the council to comply with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006. 

 

15. A 30-year Biodiversity Management and Monitoring Plan (BMMP) shall be submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the local planning authority before the commencement of the 

development hereby approved. The Plan shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the 

following information:  

Page 41



 

 Description and evaluation of features to be managed, including locations shown on a 

site map;  

 Landscape and ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 

management; 

 Aims and objectives of management, including ensuring the retention and delivery of the 

19.88 habitat units and 16.10 hedgerow units on site;  

 Appropriate management options for achieving the aims and objectives; 

  Prescriptions for all management actions;  

 A work schedule matrix (i.e. an annual work plan) capable of being rolled forward over 

5 or 10 year periods;  

 Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan;  

 Ongoing monitoring of delivery of the habitat enhancement and creation details to 

achieve net gain as well as details of possible remedial measures that might need to be 

put in place; 

 Timeframe for reviewing the plan;  

 Details of how the aims and objectives of the BMMP will be communicated to the 

occupiers of the development; and 

  The submission of a monitoring report to the local planning authority at regular 

intervals, e.g. every 5 years.  

 

The BMMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term 

implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body (ies) 

responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show 

that the conservation aims and objectives of the BMMP are not being met) how contingencies 

and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented. The BMMP shall be 

implemented in full in accordance with the approved details. 

 

REASON: To secure the delivery of the biodiversity net gain outcome for the required 30 year 

period and appropriate management of all habitats in accordance with the NPPF (in particular 

Chapter 15), Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and in order for the council to 

comply with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 

16. Prior to the installation of external lighting for the development hereby approved, a lighting 

design strategy shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy 

will: 

 

a) Identify the areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for foraging bats and 

badgers; 

b) Show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 

appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly 

demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above species using 

their commuter route. 

 

All external lighting shall be installed only in accordance with the specifications and locations set 

out in the strategy.  

  

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and ecology to protect foraging/commuting bats and 

badgers. 

 

Page 42



17. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any work on site. The 

CEMP shall: identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation 

and impact of noise, vibration, dust, light spill/glare; provide details of the hours of operation; 

and, detail waste manage arrangements. The plan shall cover all aspects of the works, including 

site set up, site preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the development.  

 

REASON: To protect the amenity local residents & visitors, and ensure the safety of road users. 

 

18. Prior to the erection of the dwellings hereby approved, written and illustrative details of the 

number, type and location of electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The EVCP shall be installed and brought into 

operation in accordance with the details agreed prior to occupation of the development. 

 

REASON: In the interests of air quality and to reduce greenhouse gases. 

 

19. Prior to first occupation a Residential Travel Plan and Residential Travel Information Pack should 

be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 

 

REASON: In the interests of sustainability, to ensure a satisfactory form of development and to 

comply with Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

 

INFORMATIVES :- 

 

 Any alterations to the Public highway will be at the applicant's expense and to Oxfordshire 

County Council's standards and specifications. Written permission must be gained from 

Oxfordshire County Council's Streetworks and Licensing Team (0345 310 1111). Works 

required to be carried out within the public highway, shall be undertaken within the context of a 

legal Agreement (such as Section 278/38 Agreements) between the applicant and the Highway 

Authority. 

 There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do NOT permit 

the building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're planning significant works 

near our mains (within 3m) TW will need to check that your development doesn't reduce 

capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities during and after construction, or inhibit the 

services we provide in any other way.  TW advise that the guide working near or diverting our 

pipes. https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-

yourdevelopment/working-near-our-pipes should be read. 

 Thames Water advise that a drainage strategy should contain the points of connection to the 

public sewerage system as well as the anticipated flows (including flow calculation method) into 

the proposed connection points. This data can then be used to determine the impact of the 

proposed development on the existing sewer system. If the drainage strategy is not acceptable 

Thames Water will request that an impact study be undertaken. Please can you confirm the 

proposed point of connection to the public sewerage system.  

 The applicant should consult the guidance provided by Secured By Design, and use the principles 

contained within the design guides to inform the design of the development, designing out crime 

from the outset. The principles of CPTED should be incorporated throughout the scheme. The 

guides can be found here: https://www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-guides 

 Any reserved matters application should pay particularly careful attention to the replacement 

and enhancement of tree planting and hedgerow along the roadside boundary to create a long-

Page 43

https://www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-guides


term screen to the development and maintain the distinctive soft, tree lined approach to 

Chipping Norton 

 

Notes to applicant 

 

 1 Any alterations to the Public highway will be at the applicant's expense and to Oxfordshire 

County Council's standards and specifications. Written permission must be gained from 

Oxfordshire County Council's Streetworks and Licensing Team (0345 310 1111). Works 

required to be carried out within the public highway, shall be undertaken within the context of a 

legal Agreement (such as Section 278/38 Agreements) between the applicant and the Highway 

Authority. 

 

 2 There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do NOT permit 

the building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're planning significant works 

near our mains (within 3m) TW will need to check that your development doesn't reduce 

capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities during and after construction, or inhibit the 

services we provide in any other way.  TW advise that the guide working near or diverting our 

pipes. https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-

yourdevelopment/working-near-our-pipes should be read. 

 

 3 Thames Water advise that a drainage strategy should contain the points of connection to the 

public sewerage system as well as the anticipated flows (including flow calculation method) into 

the proposed connection points. This data can then be used to determine the impact of the 

proposed development on the existing sewer system. If the drainage strategy is not acceptable 

Thames Water will request that an impact study be undertaken. Please can you confirm the 

proposed point of connection to the public sewerage system.  

 

 4 The applicant should consult the guidance provided by Secured By Design, and use the principles 

contained within the design guides to inform the design of the development, designing out crime 

from the outset. The principles of CPTED should be incorporated throughout the scheme. The 

guides can be found here: https://www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-guides 

 

 5 Any reserved matters application should pay particularly careful attention to the replacement 

and enhancement of tree planting and hedgerow along the roadside boundary to create a long-

term screen to the development and maintain the distinctive soft, tree lined approach to 

Chipping Norton 

 

 

Contact Officer: Joan Desmond 

Telephone Number: 01993 861655 

Date: 9th August 2023 

Page 44



 
Application Number 23/01504/OUT 

Site Address Land West Of 

London Lane 

Ascott Under Wychwood 

Oxfordshire 

 

 

Date 9th August 2023 

Officer Joan Desmond 

Officer Recommendations Refuse 

Parish Ascott Under Wychwood Parish Council 

Grid Reference 430192 E       218510 N 

Committee Date 21st August 2023 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  
 

 

Application Details: 

Outline planning application with all matters reserved (except for access) for the development of up to 

40 residential dwellings (C3 use), including 50% affordable housing, with vehicular access from London 

Page 45



Lane. Provision of associated public open space, alongside landscaping, drainage infrastructure, and 

associated works. 

 

Applicant Details: 

Obsidian Strategic Asset Management Ltd 

2nd Floor Regis House 

45 King William Street 

London 

EC4R 9AN 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Adjacent Parish Council Shipton under Wychwood PC wishes to object to this planning 

application for up to 40 houses in Ascott under Wychwood, on the 

grounds that it will further impact the environmental quality of the 

waterways and surrounding areas here in our village due to the 

additional burden on Thames Water's (TW) sewage treatment works 

(STW) at Milton under Wychwood. 

For information, Ascott under Wychwood's sewage is pumped back 

to Milton STW which is on the border between Milton and Shipton 

parishes. It discharges into Littlestock Brook which flows into the 

River Evenlode, both within our parish. 

According to TW (Richard Aylard, WODC Waterways Day, Nov. 

2022), this STW was originally built for a population of 2100 but now 

services around 4000 people. Thames Water have said, in their 

comment on the application (11.7.23), that they have no objection to 

the development in terms of foul water, as long as surface water is 

not discharged into the network. This implies that Milton STW has 

the capacity for the foul waste which would be produced. However, it 

is a well-known fact that even now this STW frequently reaches 

capacity and discharges raw sewage into the brook. Last year, it 

discharged 73 times for a total of 980 hours, the equivalent of 41 days 

(Evenlode Catchment Partnership (ECP) figures based on TW Event 

Duration Monitors). Between January 1st and March 31st 2023 it 

discharged for 775 hours. Additional housing will only exacerbate this 

problem. 

This source of pollution is already seriously impacting the ecology of 

the waterways and surrounding biodiversity in Shipton and it 

continues downstream. The proposed development, which would 

only add to this, is therefore contrary to WODC Local Plan EH8: 

Environmental Protection. At a recent visit to the STW organised by 

one of our Councillors, TW said that they would be upgrading the 

STW to increase the capacity; this was due for completion in 2025. 

However, they stated that the designs had not even been finalised 

and, given the current financial crisis at TW, there can be no certainty 

that the works will be carried out by this date. Added to this, there is 

a question as to whether the additional capacity will be sufficient to 

cope with the growing population. 

Shipton Parish Council is committed to restoring the health of our 

waterways to good ecological quality and therefore opposes 

Page 46



development such as this where the existing sewage infrastructure is 

known to be inadequate. 

 

 

Adjacent Parish Council  Milton-under-Wychwood Parish Council - We question the ability of 

Milton-under-Wychwood Sewage Treatment Works (STW) of 

Thames Water Utilities Limited (TWUL) to deal legally with the 

increased sewage generated by the proposed development and note 

the risk of groundwater of the proposed development site entering 

the sewage network. 

We have a particular problem with the following statement in the 

Flood Risk Assessment for the project provided at the WODC 

website (31 May 2023): '7.6 It should be noted that current 

infrastructure charging arrangements mean that Thames Water, as 

local sewerage undertaker, is obliged to accept foul water flows 

generated by committed development and fund any network 

improvements that may be required to provide the necessary capacity 

via infrastructure charges received from the developer. As such, foul 

capacity should not ultimately be a constraint to development, 

although the timing of any network improvements may influence the 

development programme.' 

As shown from analysis provided in the MuW Neighbourhood Plan's 

Appendix 7, we remain gravely concerned that the investment 

programme at the Milton-underWychwood Sewage Treatment 

Works has not kept pace with required capacity as our communities 

expand and we will continue so until TWUL is in a position to 

demonstrate otherwise. We continue to consider that new 

development, other than minor infill, should be subject to a Grampian 

(i.e. pre-commencement) condition that prevents planning permission 

until STW capacity is demonstrably adequate to cope with the 

additional loading brought by respective development. 

The Flow to Full Treatment (FFT) rated throughput capacity at the 

works remains alarmingly insufficient to cope with the existing sewage 

loading, resulting in unpermitted discharges of untreated sewage - as 

registered by TWUL's own Event Duration Monitoring equipment - 

to the Littlestock Brook which feeds the River Evenlode. Despite 

TWUL suggesting that the proposed increase of FFT at Milton STW 

to 43 l/s is 'likely' to be in 2025, there is no confirmation that this 

timescale will be met. Indeed, many of TWUL's projects incur several 

years of delayed implementation. 

TWUL has also identified that Milton-under-Wychwood STW sewage 

network has very significant groundwater infiltration issues. These 

result in long-term spilling of untreated sewage into the Littlestock 

Brook and the downstream River Evenlode. 

The Environment Agency is very clear that groundwater infiltration is 

not a legal reason for the discharging of untreated sewage, confirming 

the current illegality of many of these discharges. TW states that it is 

currently investigating the efficacy of various measures to control 

groundwater infiltration, including lining of pipes. 

However, no firm date has been provided for completion of these 

Page 47



works, other than that they are expected to be completed by 2030. 

We consider that without the prior completed upgrade to 43 l/s FFT 

and related improvements to ensure compliance with the legal permit 

standard at Milton-under-Wychwood STW, granting outline planning 

permission of this development will simply endorse its present un-

permitted and illegal STW operation, and will increase further the 

spilling of untreated and poorly treated sewage into the River 

Evenlode catchment. 

Mindful of the foregoing Flood Risk Assessment paragraph 7.6, we 

accordingly urge WODC not to take the advice of the statutory 

water company (TWUL) with regard to foul system and sewage 

treatment works capacity to accommodate the extra sewage load 

that would be placed by the development. We have to reiterate that 

significant new development of the type contemplated under this 

application should be subject to a pre-commencement condition that 

prevents planning permission until STW capacity is demonstrably 

adequate to cope with the additional loading brought by respective 

development. 

 

 

Oxford Clinical Commissioning 

Group NHS 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

ERS Air Quality With regards to the above application, I have no objection with 

regards to general air quality, however I would recommend the 

following conditions: 

1. Prior to the erection of the development hereby approved, 

written and illustrative details of the number, type and 

location of electric vehicle charging points (EVCPs) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. This should include an EVCP for each individual 

dwelling and shared EVCPs for apartment blocks (if 

applicable). The EVCPs shall be installed and brought into 

operation in accordance with the details agreed as above, 

prior to occupation of the development. 

Reason: West Oxfordshire District Council is committed to 

supporting measures that will reduce emissions from transport and is 

keen to promote the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles. The 

incorporation of facilities for charging plug-in vehicles will help to 

achieve this. 

2. Prior to the erection of the development hereby approved, 

written and illustrative details of the number, type and 

location of bicycle storage racks shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. This 

should include shared cycle storage for apartment blocks (if 

applicable). The storage racks shall be installed and brought 

into operation in accordance with the details agreed as above, 

prior to occupation of the development. 

REASON: West Oxfordshire District Council is committed to 

supporting measures that will reduce emissions from transport and is 

Page 48



keen to promote the uptake active travel. The incorporation of 

secure cycle storage will facilitate this. 

The developer is also encouraged to work with local businesses and 

primary school, to install cycle racks to further encourage active 

travel. 

 

ERS Contamination I have looked at the application in relation to contaminated land and 

potential risk to human health.  

The following report has been submitted with the application:  

 

 RSK Geosciences, Preliminary Risk Assessment: Ascott-

Under-Wychwood, 17 May 2023. Project Number: 305291 

R01 (02).  

 

The report details the findings of a desk based study and site walk 

over. In general the conclusions and recommendations made in the 

report are supported. It is agreed that intrusive investigation is 

required to further characterise the nature and extent of 

contamination on site. Please consider adding the following condition 

to any grant of permission.  

 

1. No development shall take place until a site investigation of 

the nature and extent of contamination has been carried out 

in accordance with a methodology which has previously been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The results of the site investigation shall be made 

available to the local planning authority before any 

development begins. If any significant contamination is found 

during the site investigation, a report specifying the measures 

to be taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for the 

development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority before any 

development begins 

2. The Remediation Scheme, as agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, shall be fully implemented in accordance 

with the approved timetable of works and before the 

development hereby permitted is first occupied. Any variation 

to the scheme shall be agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority in advance of works being undertaken. On 

completion of the works the developer shall submit to the 

Local Planning Authority written confirmation that all works 

were completed in accordance with the agreed details. 

If, during the course of development, any contamination is found 

which has not been identified in the site investigation, additional 

measures for the remediation of this contamination shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved additional 

measures. 

Reason: To ensure any contamination of the site is identified and 

appropriately remediated. 

Page 49



Relevant Policies: West Oxfordshire Local Planning Policy EH8 and 

Section 15 of the NPPF. 

 With regards to the above application, I have no objection with 

regards to general air quality, however I would recommend the 

following conditions: 

 

1. Prior to the erection of the development hereby approved, 

written and illustrative details of the number, type and 

location of electric vehicle charging points (EVCPs) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. This should include an EVCP for each individual 

dwelling and shared EVCPs for apartment blocks (if 

applicable). The EVCPs shall be installed and brought into 

operation in accordance with the details agreed as above, 

prior to occupation of the development.  

REASON: West Oxfordshire District Council is committed to 

supporting measures that will reduce emissions from transport and is 

keen to promote the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles. The 

incorporation of facilities for charging plug-in vehicles will help to 

achieve this. 

 

2. Prior to the erection of the development hereby approved, 

written and illustrative details of the number, type and 

location of bicycle storage racks shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. This 

should include shared cycle storage for apartment blocks (if 

applicable). The storage racks shall be installed and brought 

into operation in accordance with the details agreed as above, 

prior to occupation of the development.  

REASON: West Oxfordshire District Council is committed to 

supporting measures that will reduce emissions from transport and is 

keen to promote the uptake active travel. The incorporation of 

secure cycle storage will facilitate this. 

 

The developer is also encouraged to work with local businesses and 

primary school, to install cycle racks to further encourage active 

travel. 

 

 

Wychwood Project  No Comment Received. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

 Transport - No objection subject to: 

 S106 Contributions  

 An obligation to enter into a S278 agreement 

 Planning Conditions  

 

LLFA - No objection subject to drainage conditions. 

 

Education - No objection subject to S106 contributions. 

Page 50



 

Archaeology -The site lies in an area of archaeological interest and 

potential, as outlined in the submitted Heritage Statement, and the full 

archaeological background to the site will not be repeated here. In 

summary, the site has remained mostly undeveloped, and possibly 

Medieval ridge and furrow is extant within the development 

area. Remains dating from the Prehistoric - Roman periods have been 

recorded in the vicinity of the site, though largely these are of isolated 

find spots rather than settlement activity. During the Anglo-Saxon - 

Medieval periods it is likely the site was in agricultural use, though 

there is the possibility of settlement remains to survive. A watching 

brief undertaken at Corner Farm, c. 100m north of the site, recorded 

Medieval pits and boundary ditches (EOX 1143). As well as the open 

spaces, the impact of the farm buildings currently on the site will have 

to be assessed, and this can be secured through a staged programme 

of archaeological investigation.  We would therefore, recommend 

that, should planning permission be granted, the applicant should be 

responsible for ensuring the implementation of a staged programme 

of archaeological investigation to be maintained during the period of 

construction. This can be ensured through the attachment of a 

suitable negative condition. 

 

Waste Management - No objection subject to S106 contributions. 

 

Conservation And Design 

Officer 

 Although I generally concur with their identification of heritage 

assets, and general description of significance, however, I do not 

support their final assessment of harm / the impact of proposed 

development on the setting and significance of these heritage assets.  

While I agree that the removal of modern barns would be beneficial, I 

consider this to be immaterial - ultimately these could be removed 

anyway to open the views which would vastly improve the setting of 

the heritage assets.  In my opinion this does not negate the harm that 

the intrusion of a new development and associated infrastructure 

would have on the previously undeveloped rural setting of the 

heritage assets.  And, the loss and legibility of the former medieval 

plots / historic landscape character / pattern.  

I consider the proposal overall would fail to conserve or enhance the 

setting and significance of the Grade II* Church of the Holy Trinity, 

the Grade II listed Crown Farmhouse and Nos. 9 & 11 The Green 

and would result in a high level of less than substantial harm, and also 

a high level of less than substantial harm to the wider rural setting and 

historic landscape character / pattern which would result in the 

erosion / loss / legibility of the current linear settlement pattern of 

Ascott-under-Wychwood.  

 

Therefore, I raise an objection - the application is contrary to 

Legislation, NPPF (Section 16), and LP Policies EH9, EH11, EH13 and 

WODC design guidance. 

 

 

Page 51



WODC - Arts  No Comment Received. 

 

WODC - Sports The Council seeks to secure, by way of planning obligations off site 

contributions for: 

a. Outdoor pitch provision £71,600 towards enhancements and 

improvements to sports facilities within the catchment area. 

 

 

WODC Planning Policy 

Manager 

 No Comment Received. 

 

WODC Housing Enabler The precise mix of affordable housing is not included in the 

application details. I would therefore highlight the supporting text of 

policy H3 of the Local Plan that requests 1 and 2 bedroom homes 

make up 65% of the affordable housing mix. 

The Planning Statement confirms that affordable housing for rental, as 

shared ownership and as First Homes will be provided in policy 

compliant amounts. For reasons of affordability, I request that the 

affordable homes for rental are provided as Social Rent tenure and 

that it is agreed that rents are capped at the relevant Local Housing 

Allowance for the area. 

Typically, around 10% of applicants for affordable housing have a need 

for bungalow or ground floor accommodation. I request that 

consideration is given to this aspect of the housing need. 

Affordable Housing provided on this development could make an 

important contribution to local housing need. In addition to the 26 

applicants shown above, there are a further 2075 applicants on the 

overall waiting list who could benefit from the development of this 

site at time of writing. 

 

Env Health - Uplands I have No Objection in principle to the outline planning application 

for the erection of up to 40 dwellings at the site.  

 

The submitted Noise Assessment report provided by SUONO 

Consultancy Ltd (Document Ref.: 2777.RP.2) appears to demonstrate 

that the appropriate noise levels can be achieved achieved with the 

noise mitigation measures and recommendations in their report. 

 

I would ask for conditions similar to the following to be attached to 

any consent given:- 

 

I. The dwellings hereby approved shall be designed and 

constructed to incorporate measures to ensure that as a 

minimum they achieve the internal ambient noise levels 

contained in British Standard 8233:2014 Guidance on sound 

insulation and noise reduction for buildings.  

II. Prior to the commencement of the development a 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. In respect to the protection of residential amenity 

Page 52



and the local environment, the CEMP shall identify the steps 

and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the 

creation and impact of noise, vibration, dust and waste 

disposal resulting from the site preparation, groundwork and 

construction phases of the development and manage 

Heavy/Large Goods Vehicle access to the site. It shall include 

measures to be employed to prevent the egress of mud, 

water and other detritus onto the public and any non-

adopted highways. Once submitted and approved the details 

contained in the plan shall be adhered to. 

III. Hours of work shall be restricted to 08:00 to 18:00 Monday 

to Friday and 08:00-13:00 on Saturday with no working on 

Sunday or Bank Holidays. 

 

REASON: To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people 

living and/or working nearby. 

 

 

Natural England NO OBJECTION - Based on the plans submitted, Natural England 

considers that the proposed development will not have significant 

adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites. 

Natural England's generic advice on other natural environment issues 

is set out at Annex A. 

 

District Ecologist Further information is needed to assess the potential implications to 

biodiversity:  

 

Whilst the submitted metric and biodiversity net gain assessment 

report indicates a measurable biodiversity net gain can be achieved 

on-site, it is not currently possible to assess whether the submitted 

information is correct. In order to assess whether a net gain can be 

secured a proposed habitat plan will need to be submitted. The plan 

should clearly show what existing habitat types are being retained and 

enhanced, and what new habitat types will be created; it should be 

colour coded so that each habitat type is easily identifiable and the 

area of each habitat type should be quantified in hectares (although in 

this instance I would be satisfied with m2 given the existing habitats 

have been shown in this way). 

 

If the above cannot be resolved, refusal is recommended for the 

following reason: 

 

Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate a 

measurable biodiversity net gain can be secured therefore, the 

proposal is contrary to local plan policy EH3. 

 

Climate No Comment Received. 

 

 

 

Page 53



Cotswolds Conservation Board Holding objection - We acknowledge that the Council may not 

currently be able to demonstrate a five-year land supply. However, 

we consider, for the reasons outlined in Annex 1, that the application 

of policies in the NPPF, in particular paragraphs 176 and 177, provide 

a clear reason for refusing the proposed development. As such, we 

recommend that the 'tilted balance' in favour of granting planning 

permission is not engaged and the application should be determined 

on an unweighted planning balance with clear reasons for refusal 

already present as outlined below. 

 

 

WODC Landscape And 

Forestry Officer 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

Thames Water  Waste Comments 

Thames Water would advise that with regard to FOUL WATER 

sewerage network infrastructure capacity, we would not have any 

objection to the above planning application, based on the information 

provided. 

The application indicates that SURFACE WATER will NOT be 

discharged to the public network and as such Thames Water has no 

objection, however approval should be sought from the Lead Local 

Flood Authority.  

Thames Water recognises this catchment is subject to high infiltration 

flows during certain groundwater conditions. The scale of the 

proposed development doesn't materially affect the sewer network 

and as such we have no objection, however care needs to be taken 

when designing new networks to ensure they don't surcharge and 

cause flooding. In the longer term Thames Water, along with other 

partners, are working on a strategy to reduce groundwater entering 

the sewer networks. 

 

The developer should liaise with the LLFA to agree an appropriate 

sustainable surface water strategy following the sequential approach 

before considering connection to the public sewer network.  

 

With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would 

advise that if the developer follows the sequential approach to the 

disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Management of 

surface water from new developments should follow guidance under 

sections 167 & 168 in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior 

approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required.  

We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will 

be undertaken to minimise groundwater discharges into the public 

sewer.  

Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to approve the 

planning application, Thames Water would like the following 

informative attached to the planning permission: "A Groundwater 

Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 

Page 54



discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made 

without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution 

under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We would 

expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 

undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. 

  

Water Comments 

Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an 

inability of the existing water network infrastructure to accommodate 

the needs of this development proposal. Thames Water have 

contacted the developer in an attempt to agree a position on water 

networks but have been unable to do so in the time available and as 

such Thames Water request that the following condition be added to 

any planning permission. No development shall be occupied until 

confirmation has been provided that either:- all water network 

upgrades required to accommodate the additional demand to serve 

the development have been completed; or - a development and 

infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to 

allow development to be occupied. Where a development and 

infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation shall take place 

other than in accordance with the agreed development and 

infrastructure phasing plan. Reason - The development may lead to no 

/ low water pressure and network reinforcement works are 

anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made 

available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the 

new development"  

 

Thames Water responded to the above application on the 11th July 

2023. However, following a recent review we would like to amend 

our position and request that the comments are amended to the 

following: 

 

Milton Under Wychwood STW is currently being upgraded to 

accommodate this and other development in the catchment. The 

upgrade works are due to be completed by April 2025 and as such 

Thames Water feel it would be prudent for the following condition to 

be attached to any planning approval. 

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until either: 

 

1. The sewage treatment works upgrades at Milton under 

Wychwood STW, to accommodate the additional flows from 

the development have been completed, or- 

2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been 

agreed with the Local Authority in consultation with Thames 

Water to allow development to be occupied. Where a 

development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no 

occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the 

agreed development and infrastructure phasing plan. 

 

 

Page 55



Parish Council Ascott-under-Wychwood PC opposes this application. Our response 

has been informed through village-wide consultation with residents, 

and through a public meeting at which residents were provided the 

opportunity to give their views. Approximately 100 villagers attended; 

all of those who spoke, around 20, were opposed to the 

development. 

Specifically, nobody suggested that the inclusion of 20 affordable 

homes in the proposals made the development desirable or welcome. 

There was unanimous concern about the landscape impact of the 

proposed housing estate, that it would create an oversupply of houses 

that would be bought as second homes by those living outside the 

county and worsen the unaffordability of homes in the area, that 

there are very few services in the village so that the new home 

owners would need cars to go to the larger villages and towns, that it 

would increase the risk of flooding to existing houses in the village 

and that it was an unsustainable proposal that would harm the 

landscape of the village in the Lower Evenlode Valley part of the 

AONB. 

We do not attempt to cover every point made in the application; 

failure to deal with any of the contents of the proposal does not imply 

acceptance of them. Our opposition is primarily on the following 

planning grounds. 

1. Contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework: allowing 

the application would be incompatible with the great weight 

that has to be given to conserving and enhancing landscape 

and scenic beauty in AONBs, particularly since NPPF 

paragraph 177 requires permission to be refused for major 

development in an AONB other than in exceptional 

circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that 

development is in the public interest. 

The applicant has not demonstrated any exceptional circumstances. 

The incompatibility of the development with the NPPF is reason 

enough on its own to refuse the application. 

 

2. Contrary to the West Oxfordshire Local Plan: the 

development would be contrary to the Local Plan in 

numerous respects, most obviously because it is 

predominantly for greenfield development on land adjoining a 

village in the Cotswolds AONB and no local need has been 

demonstrated. 

3. The remainder of the Parish Council can be viewed on the 

website.  The statement is organised as follows: the next 

section (paragraphs 5 to 16) describes the village and its 

situation; A further section (paragraphs 17 to 26) makes some 

over-arching observations about the application. The section 

following (paragraphs 27 to 36) discusses the incompatibility 

of the proposed development with the NPPF, followed by a 

discussion of the incompatibility of the proposed development 

with the Local Plan (paragraphs 37 to 87). Finally, we discuss 

the planning balance. 

Page 56



4. The matters of concern that we raise in relation to the Local 

Plan are also matters of concern in relation to the public 

interest test in the NPPF. It cannot be in the public interest to 

approve a development in circumstances where no local need 

for it has been demonstrated and it would: 

 be an awkward and artificial addition to the existing 

village, physically and visually separated from it 

 be an inefficient use of 3.7 hectares of land 

 mar a major entrance point to the village with the 

introduction of an awkward and inevitably 

suburbanising road junction and pedestrian crossing 

 be at risk of flooding 

 increase the risk of flooding of existing properties 

 affect the amenity of existing residences and the 

setting of listed buildings 

 fail to conserve or enhance the AONB 

 increase local traffic 

 increase the strain upon local infrastructure. 

 

Conclusion: the planning balance 

Given that this application involves major development in an AONB, 

the planning balance dictated by the NPPF is the one set in paragraph 

177 of the NPPF: permission should be refused other than in 

exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that the 

development is in the public interest. The onus must be on the 

applicant to both establish the existence of circumstances which are 

exceptional and to demonstrate that the development is in the overall 

public interest. It is not sufficient to establish a need for the 

development in the abstract; the planning authority must also 

consider the scope for developing outside the AONB (paragraph 

177(b)) and the detrimental effects of the actual proposed 

development on the environment and the landscape and whether 

these could be mitigated (paragraph 177(c)). 

Shortage of housing is, sadly, not exceptional; nor is the inclusion on a 

proposed development of the proportion of affordable housing 

stipulated in a Local Plan. As to paragraph NPPF 177(b), the applicant 

has done nothing to displace the commonsense conclusion that there 

is scope for building 40 houses in parts of the District outside the 

AONB. The  applicant has to demonstrate that the development is in 

the public interest, taking account of its detrimental effect on the 

environment and the landscape and whether these could be 

moderated. One way in which detrimental effects could be 

moderated, if there were really no alternative to developing in an 

AONB, would be by locating a development in a different location 

within the AONB. 

Detrimental effects on the environment include those resulting from a 

site's awkward relationship to its settlement, and its effects upon local 

amenity (including matters such as overbearing of properties, 

increased flood risk, increased traffic levels traffic levels and increased 

strain upon infrastructure). The overall conclusion, the Parish Council 

Page 57



suggests, is that it is not in the public interest to construct this 

proposed development in this location. 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 A summary of the representations received are detailed below. Full details can be viewed on the 

Council's website. 

 

2.2 157 Letters of objection and comment received, including from WASP and FWOC: 

 Existing foul drainage system already at capacity and cannot cope with new housing 

 The current Flow to Full Treatment (FFT) figure at the works is insufficient to cope with 

the existing sewage loading, resulting in additional discharges of untreated sewage to the 

River Evenlode 

 Inappropriate major development within the AONB 

 Flood risk 

 Highway safety concerns/Traffic generation 

 Inadequate infrastructure 

 Significant increase in households in a village which would completely ruin the character 

and charm of the village 

 No local need demonstrated 

 Loss of farmland 

 Harmful to AONB in breach of national and local policy as set out in the consultation 

response by the Cotswolds Conservation Board 

 The housing development will destroy the quality of the existing public right of way that 

leads from Heritage Lane to Charlbury Road at Fairspear. 

 Unsustainable development 

 Contrary to policy 

 Undesirable precedent 

 The land is part of Crown Farm an historic agricultural site. It is inappropriate that an 

historical site is turned into a housing estate. 

 Not energy efficient enough 

 Would affect local ecology 

 There are 4 listed buildings in the direct purview of the proposed site that would be 

negatively impacted by a major new housing development, thus further damaging the 

character of this Cotswold village in an AONB 

 

2.3 Two letters of support: 

 Village needs new housing 

 Suggest a drop off point for the (fee paying) primary school that is the real cause of 

traffic problems in the village.  

 Suitable site for development 

 Sustainable development 

 A new informal public open space that does not house a cricket pitch would be 

beneficial 

 Elements need further consideration such as the access and necessary infrastructure  

 

 

 

Page 58



 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1 The submitted Planning Statement concludes as follows: 

 

Outline planning permission is sought for the construction of up to 40 dwellings, including means 

of access into the site off London Lane (not internal roads), and associated highway works, with 

all other matters, relating to appearance, landscaping, scale and layout, reserved. 

 

It has been demonstrated that the proposed development will deliver 50% affordable housing in 

line with policy, alongside an appropriate housing mix. The development would also provide 

significant public open space, SuDS features, biodiversity enhancements, additional planting 

and pedestrian links into the village. 

 

West Oxfordshire cannot currently demonstrate a 5 Year Housing Land Supply, and the 

proposed development would therefore deliver much needed housing within the district, more 

specifically up to 20 affordable homes in an area where affordability poses a serious challenge to 

those in housing need. 

 

The beneficial impacts upon the local economy, both during the construction phase and from new 

residents once complete should be given significant weight. 

 

The proposals would also enhance the biodiversity value of the site, and would deliver a BNG of 

50%, which is a significant enhancement on existing baseline situation. 

 

Other benefits include, but are not limited to, the provision of public open space, landscaping and 

improvements and enhancements to the arboricultural value of the site. This submission also 

demonstrates that sustainability measures will be incorporated into the detailed design of 

the scheme, to ensure the development meets the need of residents into the future. 

 

It has been demonstrated there would be no long-term significant harm to the landscape 

characteristics of the site and surroundings, or the wider AONB, and that the proposal would 

constitute exceptional circumstances and would be in the public interest, as required by the 

NPPF. 

 

It has also been demonstrated there would be no harm to nearby heritage assets, no unacceptable 

impact to highway safety, and the amenity of existing and future residents of the village would be 

preserved. 

 

Financial contributions, where necessary, will be provided to support off-site infrastructure in 

consultation with West Oxfordshire District Council and Oxfordshire County Council and will be 

secured via a legal agreement. 

 

This statement and other documents accompanying the submission demonstrate that the 

proposals not only comply with the Development Plan, but the benefits of the proposal 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh any harm arising from the scheme. 

 

Therefore, this application is commended to West Oxfordshire District Council. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

Page 59



 

OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS3NEW Prudent use of natural resources 

OS4NEW High quality design 

OS5NEW Supporting infrastructure 

H2NEW Delivery of new homes 

H3NEW Affordable Housing 

EH1 Cotswolds AONB 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

EH8 Environmental protection 

EH9 Historic environment 

EH11 Listed Buildings 

T2NEW Highway improvement schemes 

T3NEW Public transport, walking and cycling 

NPPF 2021 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NATDES National Design Guide 

EH2 Landscape character 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 The proposal is an outline planning application with all matters reserved (except for access) for 

the development of up to 40 residential dwellings (C3 use), including 50% affordable housing, with 

vehicular access from London Lane. Provision of associated public open space, alongside 

landscaping, drainage infrastructure, and associated works. 

 

5.2 The application site is located on land to the west of London Lane along the southern part of 

Ascott under Wychwood.  The application site is part brownfield, part greenfield measuring 3.7ha 

in area.  The existing site comprises a number of large, portal framed agricultural sheds, in 

equestrian use, with associated hardstanding and surrounding paddock land, utilised for the 

grazing of horses. A horse walker also lies within the south-western part of the site. Paddocks are 

separated by a mix of post and rail fencing, and electric tape, with a section of traditional stone 

wall separating the farmyard and buildings from the paddocks beyond. The site is located within 

the Cotswolds National Landscape (formerly known as AONB).  There are a number of grade II 

listed buildings to the North of the site. The site is bound to the north by properties along The 

Green and to the east by dwellings along London Lane. To the south-east and south-west of the 

site is open-countryside.  A Public Right of Way (footpath 111/15/10) runs immediately adjacent 

to the south-western boundary of the site, which extends from Heritage Lane to the north, to the 

B4437 to the south.  There are no Tree Preservation Orders affecting the site, however within 

the site itself are several clusters of trees, as well as hedging along the site boundary. 

 

5.3 Pre-application advice for the erection of 41 dwellings and associated works was provided in 

February 2023. 

 

 

 

Page 60



5.4 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application 

are: 

 

 Principle  

 Impact on the Cotswolds National Landscape (AONB) 

 Layout and scale 

 Impact on Heritage Assets  

 Affordable Housing/Mix 

 Accessibility/Highway Issues 

 Flood Risk/Drainage/Water Supply 

 Residential Amenity/Noise 

 Trees/Biodiversity  

 Sustainability/Climate Change  

 S106 Contributions 

 

The principle of the development 

 

The Development Plan 

5.5 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for 

planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development 

plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of 

West Oxfordshire, the Development Plan is the Local Plan 2031 adopted in September 2018. 

 

5.6 Policy OS2 sets out the overall strategy on the location of development within the district.  It 

adopts a 'hierarchal' approach with the majority of future homes and job opportunities to be 

focused on the main service centres of Witney, Carterton and Chipping Norton, followed by the 

rural service centres and then the villages. Ascott under Wychwood is identified as a village in the 

settlement hierarchy in the Local Plan and falls within the Burford-Charlbury sub-area. Policy OS2 

states that the villages are suitable for limited development which respects the village character 

and local distinctiveness and would help to maintain the vitality of these communities 

 

5.7 Policy H2 sets out that new dwellings will be permitted at the main service centres, rural service 

centres and villages in the following circumstances: 

 On sites that have been allocated for housing development within a Local Plan or relevant 

neighbourhood plan; 

 On previously developed land within or adjoining the built up area provided the loss of any 

existing use would not conflict with other plan policies and the proposal complies with the 

general principles set out in Policy OS2 and any other relevant policies in this plan; 

 On undeveloped land within the built up area provided that the proposal is in accordance 

with the other policies in the plan and in particular the general principles in Policy OS2. 

 On undeveloped land adjoining the built up area where convincing evidence is presented to 

demonstrate that it is necessary to meet identified housing needs, it is in accordance with 

the distribution of housing set out in Policy H1 and is in accordance with other policies in 

the plan in particular the general principles in Policy OS2. 

 

Page 61



5.8 The application site comprises part previously developed land and part undeveloped land which 

adjoins the built up.  In respect of the undeveloped part of the site convincing evidence is required 

to be presented to demonstrate that it is necessary to meet identified housing needs, it is in 

accordance with the distribution of housing set out in Policy H1 and is in accordance with other 

policies in the plan in particular the general principles in Policy OS2.   

 

5.9 Policy BC1 sets out of that within the Burford-Charlbury sub-area the focus of new development 

will be in Burford and Charlbury and that these towns are relatively constrained by their AONB 

locations so are suitable for a modest level of development. It goes on to state that development 

elsewhere, including Ascott-under-Wychwood, will be limited to meeting local housing, 

community and business needs and will be steered towards the larger villages. 

 

5.10 Policy OS2 also sets out general principles for all development. Of particular relevance to this 

proposal is that it should:  

a) Be of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context having regard to the potential 

cumulative impact of development in the locality; 

b) Form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development and/or the 

character of the area; 

c) As far as reasonably possible protect or enhance the local landscape and its setting of the 

settlement; 

d) Not involve the loss of an area of open space or any other feature that makes an important 

contribution to the character or appearance of the area; 

e) Conserve and enhance the natural, historic and built environment; and 

f)    Be supported by all the necessary infrastructure. 

 

National Policy/Guidance 

5.11 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 

and how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF advices that the purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and sets out that there are 

three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. In essence, the 

economic role should contribute to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy; the 

social role should support strong, vibrant and healthy communities; and the environmental role 

should contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. These 

roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually dependant.  

 

5.12 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and paragraph 

11 advices that for decision-making this means approving development proposals that accord with 

an up-to-date development plan without delay, or where policies that are most important for 

determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be granted unless: 

 

I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

II. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 

5.13 The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites. Where local authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the NPPF, as set out above, is engaged (Identified in 

footnote 8).  

 

Page 62



5.14 The Council's latest Housing Land Supply Position Statement (2022-2027) concludes that the 

Council is currently only able to demonstrate a 4.1 year supply, although recent appeal decisions 

suggest that this is lower.   Notwithstanding the figure, the provisions of paragraph 11d) of the 

NPPF is engaged in any case 

 

5.15 In view of the above it is clear that the decision-making process for the determination of this 

application is therefore to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting planning permission for 

the proposed development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or 

whether there are specific policies in the framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance which provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed.  These issues 

are considered in more detail below. 

 

Impact on the Cotswolds National Landscape (AONB)  

 

5.16 The site lies within the Cotswolds National Landscape (CNL), a nationally important 

designation, where great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic 

beauty.  This duty is reflected in policy EH1 of the local plan and the NPPF which require great 

weight to be given to conserving and enhancing landscape beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty.  This duty is also embodied in the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  The 

Cotswolds Conservation Board's Management Plan and guidance documents are also material 

considerations in decision making relevant to the CNL.   

 

5.17 Paragraph 177 of the NPPF advices that the scale and extent of development within these 

designated areas should be limited. Planning permission should be refused for major development 

other than in exceptional circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the development 

is in the public interest.  Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of the 

following: 

a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, and the 

impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;  

b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the need for it 

in some other way; and 

c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, and 

the extent to which that could be moderated.  

 

Exceptional circumstances case 

5.18 The case put forward in support of the application is summarised below: 

In terms of point (a), the scheme would secure both market and affordable housing for which 

there is a clear and urgent need in West Oxfordshire. The development would boost the supply 

of housing, which is a key national policy objective. The scheme would deliver up to 40 units, of 

which 50% would be affordable, which would make an important contribution to housing delivery 

in the district.  The development would also boost the local economy through the creation of 

jobs through the construction phase, alongside increase investment in the locality and spending 

within local shops and services by future residents. 

 

5.19 In respect of point (b), which requires an assessment of the scope for development elsewhere, a 

large proportion of the district is covered by the AONB, and therefore there is the need for 

some housing to be accommodated within this. There have been delays with the delivery of 

existing site allocations within the Local Plan, and since the preparation of The Oxfordshire Plan 

2050 was abandoned, the preparation of a new Local Plan 2041 has begun, which, according to 

the Council's website, is not anticipated to be adopted until at least 2025. As such, it is unlikely 

Page 63



the current housing delivery shortfall will be addressed within the near future via a Plan-led 

approach, and instead must be addressed through the granting of permission for sites such as this. 

 

5.20 In respect of point (c), the site is located on the edge of settlement, bordered by residential 

development on two sides. Furthermore, the site is partially previously developed, and currently 

contains a number of large, modern, unsightly agricultural buildings which would be demolished to 

make way for the proposed dwellings. The submitted LVIA concludes that the proposal could be 

integrated on the site without long term adverse effects upon the landscape character and visual 

environment, and the proposal would conserve, and in some cases enhance, the natural beauty, 

landscape and countryside of the AONB. The site would therefore make a logical extension to 

the settlement of Ascott under Wychwood. 

 

5.21 The Planning Statement concludes that In this case, as outlined above, the shortfall of market and 

affordable housing clearly amount to 'exceptional circumstances' in line with paragraph 177 of the NPPF, 

and it has been demonstrated that the development would be in the public interest. 

 

5.22 The Cotswolds National Landscape Board (CNLB) consider that exceptional circumstances have 

not been adequately evidenced by the applicant in their submission and the proposal as submitted 

does not accord with Policies OS2, EH1 and BC1 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and 

Policies CE1, CE4, CE10, CE11 and CE12 of the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan 2023-2025.  

In this respect the CNLB comment as follows: 

 

5.23 a. Need - The Board is supportive of the provision of affordable housing that meets the needs of 

communities within the National Landscape, when based on robust evidence of local need arising 

within the National Landscape.  The applicant has submitted an Affordable Housing Statement 

(AHS) and commits to the provision of 50% affordable housing, or 20 dwellings. We would note 

that although this is a significant proportion of the overall quantum, ultimately it is still only the 

minimum amount required by WOLP policy H3. The AHS gives a detailed analysis of the general 

affordability issues and lack of affordable housing across the District, however this does not assist 

in defining the current level of affordable housing need specific to Ascott Under Wychwood. The 

applicant's case on affordable housing need in Ascott Under Wychwood is predominantly 

predicated on the information contained in the Council's Affordable Housing Register rather than, 

for example, relying on a settlement-specific Housing Needs Survey. The CNLB do not support an 

assessment of settlement-specific affordable housing need on the basis of this data alone as 

register applicants may express a preference for up to three locations in the District, which could 

lead to double or even triple counting of affordable housing need. This approach was supported 

by the Inspector in dismissing an appeal at Stonesfield (appeal ref. APP/D3125/W/18/3209551). A 

key consideration is whether the households on the register have a local connection to the 

settlement. The applicant appears not to have identified this figure, or the number of households 

that have both a local connection and a preference. We therefore consider that proposed 

development is not based on convincing, or robust, evidence of need specific to the settlement / 

parish or AONB sub-area. As such, it is not consistent with the West Oxfordshire Local Plan or 

the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan 2023-2025.  

 

5.24 Notwithstanding the above, even if the Council cannot demonstrate the required five-year 

housing land supply when this application is determined, recent Section 78 appeal Inspectors have 

held that the circumstances of a housing shortfall, including challenges around providing for 

affordable housing are not unusual and would not amount to exceptional circumstances that 

would justify harm to an AONB.  We would also wish to highlight the High Court judgement for 

'Mevagissey Parish Council v Cornwall Council', which is referred to within Policy CE11 of our 

Page 64



Management Plan, where Hickinbottom J found that "Even if there were an exceptional need for 

affordable housing in an area, that would not necessarily equate to exceptional circumstances for a 

particular development, because there may be alternative sites that are more suitable because 

development there would result in less harm to the AONB landscape". 

 

5.25 b. Scope for meeting the need outside the Cotswolds National Landscape or in some other way 

Case law, again referenced in Policy CE11 of the Management Plan, has clarified that 'no 

permission should be given for major development save to the extent the development … met a 

need that could not be addressed elsewhere or in some other way'.  The applicant's case in 

relation to the scope for meeting the need outside of the National Landscape or in some other 

way is that "a large proportion of the district is covered by the AONB, and therefore there is the need for 

some housing to be accommodated within this…, it is unlikely the current housing delivery shortfall will be 

addressed within the near future via a Plan-led approach, and instead must be addressed through the 

granting of permission for sites such as this".  Two-thirds of West Oxfordshire District lies outside of 

the Cotswolds National Landscape with the area outside of the designation including the three 

largest settlements and main service centres in the District (Witney, Carterton and Chipping 

Norton), the Oxfordshire Cotswolds/Salt Cross Garden Village and four of the six rural service 

centres identified within the WOLP. The WOLP currently provides for housing to come forward 

within the National Landscape, in particular through compliance with policies H2 and BC1 but this 

does not necessarily mean that the proposed type and quantum of development proposed here 

could only be located: (i) in the Cotswolds National Landscape; and / or (ii) in this particular 

location. This is also underlined by the conclusion of the WOLP Inspector at paragraph 224 of his 

Examination Report that "There is significant opportunity for general development needs to be 

met outside the AONB". The applicant has also not undertaken any analysis of alternative sites, 

including sites adjacent to main/rural service centres, Strategic Development Areas or sites 

identified in the West Oxfordshire SHELAA which lie outside the AONB. In short, the appellant 

has not adequately demonstrated that there are not suitable alternatives to meeting the identified 

housing requirement on sites in the two-thirds of the District lying outside of the National 

Landscape. 

 

5.26 c. Detrimental effects: Landscape and Visual Impact - The CNLB generally concur with the 

description of the site's landscape susceptibility and consider that the susceptibility of the site to 

change is 'medium/high'. The CNLB question however, whether the conclusion of 'no effect' on 

the character of the landscape area is appropriate given the location and scale of the development 

within the context of the relatively small AONB settlement. Given the 'high' landscape sensitivity 

and what is considered to be a 'minor adverse' magnitude of effect on landscape character, CNLB 

consider that a 'minor adverse' landscape effect would result.  

 

5.27 As well as demonstrating exceptional circumstances, the NPPF also requires that it must be 

demonstrated that the development is in the public interest. It is argued that the number of 

benefits that will be secured by the proposals demonstrate that it is in the public interest.  These 

benefits include a boost to the local economy through the creation of jobs through the 

construction phase, alongside increase investment in the locality and spending within local shops 

and services by future residents.  Other benefits include the delivery of 50% affordable housing; 

provision of significant public open space, SuDS features, biodiversity enhancements, additional 

planting and pedestrian links into the village. Whilst the public benefits are recognised, the CNLB 

note that the unquantified social and economic benefits identified would apply to any similar form 

of residential development, irrespective of its location, and as such they do not consider that they 

amount to exceptional circumstances in this case. 

 

Page 65



5.28 In conclusion, whilst the public benefits of the development are recognised, this is major 

development within the AONB and no convincing evidence has been submitted to demonstrate 

that exceptional circumstances apply in this case to justify the development. 

 

Landscape Impact 

 

5.29 The site is located within the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and, as 

such, is covered by the aims and objectives of the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan. The site 

also lies within the Wychwood Project Area.  At a more local level, the site is located within the 

"Lower Evenlode Valley" landscape character area (LCA 6 West Oxfordshire Landscape 

Assessment 1998). The site lies within the "open valley-side farmland". 

  

5.30 A submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) concludes that in terms of effect 

upon landscape character the proposals could be integrated without any notable adverse effects 

upon the key landscape features which characterise the site and its immediate setting. It is noted 

that the proposals would result in a degree of perceived change within the site itself, however, 

change need not equate to harm, and the enclosed nature of the site and its immediate setting 

would ensure that any perception of change, in terms of the landscape character, is highly 

localised. While it is  acknowledged that the proposals would affect the perceived openness of 

part of the site and represent a new addition to the settlement, it is considered that the 

opportunities for enhancements in terms of vegetation cover and public access, together with the 

adoption of a sympathetic, landscape-led layout and high quality palette of materials which reflect 

the local vernacular would mitigate any perceived adverse effects and ensure that the proposals 

conserve the local landscape character, as well as presenting some opportunities for 

enhancement.  In terms of effect upon the visual environment, the LVIA concludes that the 

proposals could be integrated without any notable adverse visual effects and that by adopting a 

sympathetic layout, and comprehensive scheme of landscaping, the site could be sensitively 

developed ensuring that the receiving visual environment and appearance of the area is conserved. 

 

5.31 The CNLB have commented that the longer-range viewpoints presented in the LVIA show that 

the site is predominately screened by vegetation or topography and the site is not especially 

prominent in longer views from the north-west or south east. In addition, there are also a 

number of viewpoints where the proposed development would be seen against the backdrop of 

existing neighbouring properties or the better-quality farm buildings that would be retained. The 

retention of onsite trees, particularly those in the central 'corridor' and on the southern boundary 

is considered to be essential and also that these should be supplemented by further, considered, 

native species planting. The retention and enhancement of drystone walling is equally a key 

consideration. It would be in the closer range viewpoints that the visual impact of the 

development would be most appreciable. Whilst the CNLB generally agree with the perceived 

effects from various viewpoints it considers that in respect of 2 viewpoints (Viewpoint 7- from the 

adjoining footpath and 8 from the B4437) that the effect would reduce to 'minor adverse, and not 

'negligible' as concluded.  The CNLB considers that, on balance, whilst the proposal may not give 

rise to significant adverse effects on of the National Landscape, the LVIA tends to underestimate 

the landscape and visual impact of the proposal. 

 

5.32 The CNLB also highlight that 'Tranquillity' is a 'special quality' of the Cotswolds National 

Landscape, being one of the features of the Cotswolds that makes the area so outstanding that it 

is in the nation's interest to safeguard it. The CNLB consider that the potential impact on the 

tranquillity of the National Landscape has not been adequately assessed, particularly in respect of 

traffic flow and as such does not accord with the requirements of Policy CE4 of the National 

Page 66



Landscape Management Plan and, by extension, Policy EH1 of the WOLP. The CNLB also 

consider that as AONBs have the same level of protection with regards to landscape and scenic 

beauty as national parks within the NPPF and PPG and dark skies are one of the 'special qualities' 

of the Cotswolds National Landscape, it is reasonable to treat the National Landscape as an 

'intrinsically dark landscape' in NPPF and PPG terms.   The Board notes that at this outline 

application stage, no detailed information has been provided regarding external lighting and 

recommends that should permission be granted an appropriate planning condition is imposed. 

 

5.33 In conclusion, whilst it is agreed that the visual effects of the development are likely to be 

localised, this would not validate the intrinsically harmful urbanising effects that would result from 

the proposal.  The development would have an adverse impact on the appearance and character 

of the Cotswolds NL and fails to adequately assess the potential impact on the tranquillity of the 

NL.   

 

Layout and Scale 

 

5.34 Policies OS2 and OS4 seek a high quality of design.  Policy OS2 clearly advises that new 

development should be proportionate and appropriate in scale to its context and should form a 

logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development and should relate well to the 

character of the area.  Similarly Policy OS4 seeks a high quality of design that respects, inter alia, 

the historic and architectural character of the locality, contributes to local distinctiveness and, 

where possible, enhances the character and quality of the surrounding.  The NPPF also makes it 

clear that creating high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 

development process can achieve and the National Design Guide provides advice on the 

components of good design which includes the context for buildings, form and scale, appearance, 

landscaping, materials and detailing.  The design of places and buildings is influenced by how these 

components are put together. 

 

5.35 A concept masterplan has been submitted with the application to show how the site could 

accommodate the proposed development.  The DAS advises that the principal design factors are: 

 Layout design structured around the site constraints; 

 Provision of open space within the north-east corner for surface water attenuation feature; 

 Perimeter style development blocks utilised to create a traditional street structure (as exists 

in the village); 

 Retention of all trees/hedgerows within open spaces to create amenity retain local habitats; 

 Existing low stone wall retained as site feature within open space; 

 South-eastern portion of the site retained as natural green space behind a new planted field 

buffer; 

 Paddock area South-west corner retained as green space incorporating the existing PROW 

and play area. 

The DAS states that residential development would be up to 2.5 storeys high. 

 

5.36 This site lies on the opposite side of London Lane where an appeal was recently dismissed 

(APP/D3125/W/21/3285075) for the erection of 7 one story age restricted dwellings.  This site 

has similar characteristics to that site, which the Inspector described as follows.....its use and 

appearance share common characteristics with the varied pattern of fields and paddocks, enclosed by 

mature tree and hedge planting, that envelope the village. The established planting of boundaries provides 

a verdant backdrop to buildings provides a contrast to the harder exteriors of their built form, a transition 

to the countryside edge and therefore helps to define what is more urban and rural in form.  The 

Inspector also noted that…;The houses to the east of the village are arranged in a coherent linear 

Page 67



pattern, predominantly with a street frontage adjacent to a grass verge or footpath. There are instances of 

development at depth, including within designed estates, but these are predominantly found to the west of 

the village.  Taken together the features stated above, particularly the landscaped appearance and visual 

characteristics of the paddocks and fields around the village, including the site, and the linear form of built 

development, give rise to a clear and distinct pattern of development that makes a significantly positive 

contribution to the rural setting and character of the village and the landscape and scenic beauty of the 

Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  The village is identified in the Design Guide as having 

a linear settlement pattern.  Linear settlements have a distinctive ribbon form, and develop along 

both main road and the smaller side roads that branch off these routes.  Development in linear 

settlement may only be a single house deep on each side, thereby allowing significant views into 

the landscape beyond.  Apart from the incursion of some modern development, this linear 

settlement pattern is still largely visible in Ascott-under-Wychwood today.  This site lies behind 

the linear form of development along London Lane and The Green and would comprises in-effect 

backland development which would be out of keeping with the traditional linear character and 

form of this built part of the village.  No buildings would address London Lane or The Green.  

The development would jar with the established grain of linear development to the east of the 

village and would be visually separated from other cul-de-sacs to the west of the village and blur 

how the village currently blends more naturally into the surrounding rural landscape of the 

AONB. 

 

5.37 In conclusion, the proposed development would fail to form a logical complement to the 

existing grain, character, setting and local distinctiveness of the village, in conflict with Local Plan 

policies and guidance in the NPPF and the National Design Guide.   

 

Impact on Heritage Assets 

 

5.38 The Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Section 66(1) requires special 

regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special 

architectural or historic interest it possesses.  Policies EH9 and EH11 of the Local Plan reflect 

these duties and Policy EH13 of the Local Plan seeks to protect the historic landscape character 

of the district.  The submitted Heritage Statement identifies that there is 1 Grade II* Listed 

Building (The Church of the Holy Trinity) and 3 Grade II Listed Buildings (Crown Farmhouse, No 

9 The Green, and No. 11 The Green) whose settings and significance could potentially be 

impacted by the development.  

 

5.39 Section 16 of the NPPF sets out guidance on conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF provides when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 

asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 

irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 

substantial harm to its significance.   Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 

heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 

require clear and convincing justification.  Where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 

viable use.  

 

5.40 The HS assessment determined that the proposals would cause no direct impact on any of the 

heritage assets, no harm to the setting and significance of the Grade II* Church of the Holy Trinity 

but may result in less than substantial harm (towards the lower end of the scale) to the wider 

Page 68



rural setting and thereby significance of the Grade II listed Crown Farmhouse and Nos. 9 & 11 

The Green. The applicant also stated that the removal of various modern barns and the addition 

of proposed development would be beneficial overall to the setting of the heritage assets. 

 

5.41 The Conservation Officer has commented as follows: 

'Although I generally concur with their identification of heritage assets, and general description of 

significance, however, I do not support their final assessment of harm / the impact of proposed 

development on the setting and significance of these heritage assets.  While I agree that the removal of 

modern barns would be beneficial, I consider this to be immaterial - ultimately these could be removed 

anyway to open the views which would vastly improve the setting of the heritage assets.  In my opinion this 

does not negate the harm that the intrusion of a new development and associated infrastructure would 

have on the previously undeveloped rural setting of the heritage assets.  And, the loss and legibility of the 

former medieval plots / historic landscape character / pattern.  

 

I consider the proposal overall would fail to conserve or enhance the setting and significance of the Grade 

II* Church of the Holy Trinity, the Grade II listed Crown Farmhouse and Nos. 9 & 11 The Green and 

would result in a high level of less than substantial harm, and also a high level of less than substantial 

harm to the wider rural setting and historic landscape character / pattern which would result in the 

erosion / loss / legibility of the current linear settlement pattern of Ascott-under-Wychwood.  

 

Therefore, I raise an objection - the application is contrary to Legislation, NPPF (Section 16), and LP 

Policies EH9, EH11, EH13 and WODC design guidance. 

 

5.42 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF advises that where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 

viable use. The public benefits of the proposal principally include the provision of both market and 

affordable housing, public open space and biodiversity enhancements and economic benefits 

associated with job creation and the construction phases.  Conversely, great weight should be 

given to the conservation of heritage assets, and any harm to a heritage asset must be given 

considerable importance and weight.  It is considered that the public benefits do not outweigh the 

higher scale of 'less than substantial harm' arising in this case.  As per the Framework, this in itself 

provides a clear reason for refusing the development. 

 

5.43 In terms of archaeology, the HS advises that the results of research from data held at the 

Oxfordshire HER, as well as cartographic and archive sources,, suggest that the Site has a low to 

moderate potential for archaeological remains of Prehistoric date, a low to negligible potential for 

remains of Romano-British date, a low potential for remains of Anglo-Saxon date, a high potential 

for remains of medieval date (relating to both agricultural and settlement activity), and a high 

potential for remains relating to agricultural activity dating to the postmedieval and modern 

periods. It is unlikely that any archaeological remains (below ground non-designated heritage 

assets) on the site would be equivalent to the significance of a scheduled monument (see Section 

2.6) and therefore would be of lesser significance and would not require changes to the layout of 

the proposals. Development groundworks within the Site would have a direct impact on any 

archaeological remains present within the Site. Any impacts from groundworks associated with 

the proposed development could be mitigated through an agreed programme of archaeological 

works developed in conjunction with the Oxfordshire County Council Planning Archaeologist. 

Agreed archaeological mitigation works could then be undertaken prior to and / or during the 

construction phase. 

 

Page 69



5.44 The County Archaeological Officer recommend that, should planning permission be granted, the 

applicant should be responsible for ensuring the implementation of a staged programme of 

archaeological investigation to be maintained during the period of construction. This can be 

ensured through the attachment of a suitable negative condition. 

 

Affordable Housing/Mix 

 

5.45 The proposed development would include 50% on site affordable housing provision, in 

accordance with Policy H3 of the Local Plan.  The Planning Statement (PS) advises that the 

proposed tenure split would be 66% rented affordable (up to 13 dwellings), 25% First Homes (up 

to 5 dwellings) and 9% shared ownership (up to 2 dwellings), in line with the requirements of the 

Local Plan and the Affordable Housing SPD. The PS also advises that the development would also 

offer a mix of house types, sizes and affordability, at an appropriate density for the setting. 

 

5.46 The Council's Strategic Housing and Development Officer has commented that the precise mix 

of affordable housing is not included in the application details. The supporting text of policy H3 of 

the Local Plan that requests 1 and 2 bedroom homes make up 65% of the affordable housing mix. 

For reasons of affordability, it is requested that the affordable homes for rental are provided as 

Social Rent tenure and that it is agreed that rents are capped at the relevant Local Housing 

Allowance for the area. Typically, around 10% of applicants for affordable housing have a need for 

bungalow or ground floor accommodation. Consideration should be given to this aspect of the 

housing need. 

 

Accessibility/Highway Issues 

 

5.47 The existing equestrian enterprise at Crown Farm is accessed from the north, via The Green 

and Heritage Lane, and from the south, via the A361. To serve the new development, a new 

access is proposed off London Lane via a 5.5m wide access road and simple T-junction. A 2.0m 

wide footway would be formed on the eastern side of the new access road to connect to the 

existing pedestrian infrastructure on the northern side of London Lane via an uncontrolled 

crossing.  It is also stated that the PROW which runs along the western boundary would be 

enhanced through improved surfacing and signage, to enable additional connectivity between the 

site and the village.  The new access would result in the loss of part of an existing boundary stone 

wall. 

 

5.48 The submitted Transport Statement states that the following key points have been 

demonstrated: 

 

 The site is in a sustainable location, within easy reach of a village shop, primary school, bus 

services and rail services; 

 Vehicular access would be taken from London Lane, formed of a 5.5m wide carriageway 

with 6.0m radii, suitable to allow two-way traffic flow and for refuse vehicles to manoeuvre 

safely; 

 Visibility commensurate with the recorded approach speed of vehicles travelling towards the 

site is achievable in both directions upon egress from the development, enabling the access 

to operate safely; 

 Safe access for pedestrian access will be taken by way of a 2.0m wide footway along the 

eastern side of the road, connecting to the footway on the opposite side of London Lane via 

an uncontrolled crossing; 

Page 70



 Further pedestrian connections will be delivered to connect the site to the public footpath 

which runs along the site's western boundary; and 

 The proposals are expected to generate a modest uplift of 21 vehicle movements in each 

peak hour. 

 

5.49 OCC Transport has raised no objection subject to the application subject to S106 contributions 

and appropriate highway conditions being attached to any permission granted. 

 

5.50 Previous appeal Inspectors have recognised that the village features a limited range of facilities 

and services, including a community shop, public house, village hall, church, and a private primary 

school and have found that the sites would help to maintain its vitality by supporting its services 

and facilities. 

 

Flood Risk/Drainage/Water Supply 

 

5.51 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which advises that the 

application site lies within Flood Zone 1, and therefore at the lowest risk of fluvial flooding. All 

other sources of potential flooding are at a low to negligible risk. As such, the proposed 

residential use is appropriate on the site and would not increase flood risk elsewhere. Surface 

water run-off is proposed to be disposed of within an infiltration basin to the north of the site, 

with additional attenuation provided within permeable paving. Further SuDS features would also 

be incorporated into the detailed design of the proposals and outlined in full at reserved matters 

stage. 

 

5.52 The LLFA has no objection to the application subject to drainage conditions being attached to 

any permission granted. 

 

5.53 In respect of foul water drainage, the proposed development would be provided with a foul 

water gravity network which will discharge into the existing Thames Water foul sewer on London 

Lane.  Thames Water (TW) has advised that Milton-Under-Wychwood STW is currently being 

upgraded to accommodate this and other development in the catchment. The upgrade works are 

due to be completed by April 2025 and as such TW feel it would be prudent for a condition to be 

attached to any planning approval to ensure occupation does not take place before the upgrade 

works are completed. 

 

5.54 Whilst 'Windrush against Sewage Pollution' has raised concerns regarding foul drainage, a recent 

appeal Inspector (APP/D3125/W/23/33175120) noted that TW have an obligation under the 

Water Industry Act to provide foul drainage connections and necessary capacity within the 

network to accommodate new development. Whilst he acknowledged the concern of residents 

regarding existing capacity issues, he held that it would not be reasonable to require the scheme 

for 40 dwellings to mitigate existing issues. Instead, he advised that it must be assumed that TW 

will meet its statutory obligations and he was satisfied that a condition could be used to prevent 

occupation of the development until such time as capacity is available. 

 

5.55 In terms of water supply, the applicant has submitted a clean water supply report which 

confirms that there is sufficient capacity to supply the first 10 properties, but modelling will be 

needed to confirm whether any reinforcements are required to deliver the capacity for 40 

dwellings. This would be undertaken should permission be granted.  TW has identified an inability 

of the existing water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development 

Page 71



proposal and as such has recommended that an appropriate condition is attached should 

permission be granted. 

 

Residential Amenity/Noise 

 

5.56 As this is an outline application, the size, position, orientation of dwellings are not being 

assessed. Impacts on residential amenity including suitable interface distances and relationships as 

regards adequate light would be fully assessed and taken account of at reserved matters stage.   

However, noise and disturbance can be considered.  

 

5.57 The submitted Noise Assessment concludes that no additional mitigation is required for the 

proposed dwellings across the site, in order to achieve the internal noise criteria beyond that 

expected from standard building fabric and no mitigation is required to meet aspirational criteria 

within external amenity areas associated with these dwellings. The calculated change in noise 

levels as a result of vehicles using the proposed access road at the nearest existing (and 

permitted) dwellings is calculated not to be significant. As such, noise impact, either on proposed 

or existing dwellings, does not prevent this site from being suitable for residential development. 

 

5.58 The Council's Environmental Health Officer has no objection in principle to the application 

subject to appropriate conditions being attached to any permission granted to protect the 

amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or working nearby.  Conditions are also 

recommended in respect of contamination and air quality. 

 

Trees/Biodiversity 

 

5.59 Policy EH3 states that development should protect and enhance biodiversity to achieve an 

overall net gain in biodiversity.  

 

5.60 The submitted Arboricultural Report and Tree Condition Survey, concludes that the proposed 

development will result in the loss of four trees, which are considered to be poor quality or 

unsuitable for retention, and the loss of these would not impact upon the appearance of the local 

or wider landscape.  The proposed residential dwellings and associated infrastructure within the 

submitted illustrative layout are located outside of the Root Protection Area of all retained trees 

and set at a distance from the tree crowns. As such, the retained trees would not impact upon 

the amenity of future occupiers and provision is made for future growth of these. 

 

5.61 This application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA), alongside further 

ecological surveys undertaken on the site. The PEA concludes that there are no statutory 

designated sites within the search area, and whilst the site does fall within the impact zones for 

the Wychwood SSSI, none of the proposed works fall within the risk categories. The hedgerows 

around the perimeter of the site are considered priority habitat, and the majority of the land 

within the site comprises modified grassland, with hardstanding, scattered trees and a small area 

of woodland. There is an existing pond on the site and an Environmental DNA (eDNA) analysis of 

the pond has been undertaken. No presence of Great Crested Newts were found at the pond 

and it is unlikely, due to its condition, that the pond would support a population over time. In 

respect of bats, the majority of buildings on site were deemed to have a negligible bat roosting 

potential, other than one barn, which had a low bat roosting potential. This building was 

subsequently surveyed. The site also has a low potential for foraging and commuting common 

pipistrelle bats. Based on the indicative landscape proposals, the scheme includes an increase in 

mature trees, hedgerows and grassland of a greater species diversity than the existing. This 

Page 72



therefore provides further foraging opportunities for bats. In regard to Biodiversity Net Gain, the 

proposals would enhance the biodiversity value of the site, and would deliver a BNG of 50%, 

which is a significant enhancement on existing baseline situation. Overall, there would be no 

impact to the nearby Wychwood SSSI, or any protected species as a result of the proposals. 

Detailed ecological enhancements will be specified at reserved matters stage, however the 

development would deliver a 50% biodiversity net gain, which represents a significant 

enhancement, exceeding local and national planning policy requirements. 

 

5.62 Natural England has no objection and considers that the proposed development will not have 

significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites. Natural England's 

generic advice on other natural environment issues is referred to. 

 

5.63 The Biodiversity Officer (BO) has commented that further information is needed to assess the 

potential implications to biodiversity:  

Whilst the submitted metric and biodiversity net gain assessment report indicates a measurable 

biodiversity net gain can be achieved on-site, it is not currently possible to assess whether the submitted 

information is correct. In order to assess whether a net gain can be secured a proposed habitat plan will 

need to be submitted. The plan should clearly show what existing habitat types are being retained and 

enhanced, and what new habitat types will be created; it should be colour coded so that each habitat type 

is easily identifiable and the area of each habitat type should be quantified in hectares (although in this 

instance I would be satisfied with m2 given the existing habitats have been shown in this way). If the 

above cannot be resolved, refusal is recommended for the following reason: Insufficient information has 

been submitted to demonstrate a measurable biodiversity net gain can be secured therefore, the proposal 

is contrary to local plan policy EH3. 

 

Sustainability/Climate Change 

 

5.64 The submitted Energy and Sustainability Statement advises that the early stage proposed energy 

strategy for the proposed scheme is to use a highly efficient Air Source Heat Pumps as the main 

heating and DHW system, alongside advanced energy efficiency fabric measures and Mechanical 

ventilation with heat recovery (MVHR), to meet the carbon emissions reductions target. The 

proposal is to build traditional construction, built to best practice u-values and air tightness, far 

surpassing Part L 2021 requirements. Full Mechanical ventilation with heat recovery (MVHR) and 

natural ventilation will meet Part F requirements. 

 

5.65 The CNLB recommends that planning conditions should be imposed to ensure that the 

recommendations contained within the Energy and Sustainability Statement are secured and 

delivered by any subsequent developer.  

 

S106 Contributions 

 

5.66 Policy OS5 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development delivers or contributes 

towards the provision of essential supporting infrastructure. 

 

5.67 The applicant has referred to the provision of 50% affordable housing which is a policy 

compliant contribution. This will be comprised of affordable housing with the exact mix to be the 

subject of a legal agreement.  

 

5.68 Matters relating to the provision of recreation, play areas and open space will also be secured 

via the legal agreement together with required monitoring costs.  A contribution of £71,600 

Page 73



towards enhancements and improvements to sports facilities within the catchment area is 

required. 

 

5.69 Various on and off site contributions have been sought, as set out in the consultee responses. 

Those contributions are set out below: 

 

OCC seeks: 

£45,320 towards public transport services (For the retention/improvement of bus services in 

Ascott-under-Wychwood) 

£1,502 towards public transport infrastructure (For two new poles, flags and timetable cases at 

The Green bus stops) 

£35,000 towards public rights of way (for mitigation measures on footpath 111/15/10 

and others in the vicinity for surface, signing and other mitigation measures). 

£233,928 towards secondary education capacity serving the development 

£17,948 towards special school education capacity serving the development. 

£3,758 towards the expansion and efficiency of household waste and recycling centres. 

 

5.70 In terms of health care, comments from the NHS are still awaited. 

 

Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 

5.71 In this case, there are material considerations which indicate that the application should be 

decided otherwise in respect of the development plan. As we cannot demonstrate evidence of a 

five year supply of deliverable housing sites the relevant development plan policies for the supply 

of housing are out-of-date and that is a material consideration that can justify a departure from 

the plan and the grant of planning permission.  

 

5.72 The site is located adjacent to the village of Ascott-under-Wychwood which previous appeal 

Inspectors have recognised features a limited range of facilities and services, including a 

community shop, public house, village hall, church, and a private primary school which new 

housing development would help to maintain its vitality by supporting its services and facilities. 

 

5.73 Where policies for the supply of housing are out of date, para.11 d) of the NPPF requires a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development and that planning permission be granted  

 

I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

II. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 

5.74 This development comprises major development within the Cotswolds National landscape 

(AONB).  As set out in the Framework in AONB's permission should be refused for major 

development other than in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that the 

development is in the public interest.  It is acknowledged that there are clear benefits arising from 

this development including economic and social benefits and that significant weight should be 

afforded to the benefit of additional housing delivery in this location including the provision of 

affordable housing.  Nevertheless, this must be weighed against the harm to public interest by 

virtue of harm to the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB, as identified in the report above.  

The AONB is a finite resource and, as per the Framework, great weight should be given to 

conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs which have the highest status of 

Page 74



protection in relation to these issues. In addition, exceptional circumstances have not been 

demonstrated to justify a development of this scale in the AONB. This conflict provides a clear 

reason for refusing the development. 

 

5.75 As a further consideration, harm to heritage assets is also not in the public interest, as explained 

in the Framework, these should be conserved so they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the 

quality of life of existing and future generations. Again, great weight should be given to the 

conservation of such assets.  This proposal would fail to conserve or enhance the setting and 

significance of the Grade II* Church of the Holy Trinity, the Grade II listed Crown Farmhouse and 

Nos. 9 & 11 The Green and would result in a high level of less than substantial harm, and also a 

high level of less than substantial harm to the wider rural setting and historic landscape character / 

pattern which would result in the erosion / loss / legibility of the current linear settlement pattern 

of Ascott-under-Wychwood.  

 

5.76 In conclusion, it is Officer opinion that having regard to the development plan as a whole and to 

all material considerations, including a lack of 5-year housing land supply.  Policies in the 

Framework, which protect designated heritage assets and National Landscapes (AONBs) provide 

clear reasons for refusing the development. 

 

6 REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 

 

1. The proposed development comprises major development within the Cotswolds National 

landscape (AONB) and no exceptional circumstances case has been made to justify this 

development which would have an adverse impact on the area's natural beauty and landscape and 

setting of the village. The development would also be of a disproportionate and inappropriate scale 

to its context and would not form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of 

development or the character of the area.  As such, the proposed development would conflict with 

Policies OS2, OS4, EH1, EH2 and BC1 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, the West 

Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016, the National Design Guide 2019, the relevant paragraphs of the 

NPPF and policies contained in the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan. 

 

2. The proposed development would fail to conserve or enhance the setting and significance of the 

Grade II* Church of the Holy Trinity, the Grade II listed Crown Farmhouse and Nos. 9 & 11 The 

Green and would result in a high level of less than substantial harm, and also a high level of less than 

substantial harm to the wider rural setting and historic landscape character / pattern which would 

result in the erosion / loss / legibility of the current linear settlement pattern of Ascott-under-

Wychwood and these harms are not outweighed by the public benefits arising from the scheme.  

Therefore, the proposal does not accord with West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Polices EH9, 

EH11 and EH13 as well as the guidance contained in the NPPF 2021. 

 

 

3. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate a measurable biodiversity net gain can 

be secured therefore, the proposal is contrary to Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2031 and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF. 

 

4. The applicant has not entered into a legal agreement to provide affordable housing, recreation, play 

areas and open space and the required contributions towards the provision of essential supporting 

infrastructure and the proposal is therefore contrary to West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policies 

OS5, H3, EH5 and T3 and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF. 

Page 75



 

 

 

Contact Officer: Joan Desmond 

Telephone Number: 01993 861655 

Date: 9th August 2023 

Page 76



 
 
 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



DELGAT 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS  

 

Application Types Key 

 

Suffix 

 

 Suffix  

ADV Advertisement Consent LBC Listed Building Consent 

CC3REG County Council Regulation 3 LBD Listed Building Consent - Demolition 

CC4REG County Council Regulation 4 OUT Outline Application 

CM County Matters RES Reserved Matters Application 

FUL Full Application S73 Removal or Variation of Condition/s 

HHD Householder Application POB Discharge of Planning Obligation/s 

CLP 

CLASSM 

 

HAZ 

PN42 

 

PNT 

NMA 

WDN 

Certificate of Lawfulness Proposed 

Change of Use – Agriculture to 

Commercial 

Hazardous Substances Application 

Householder Application under Permitted 

Development legislation. 

Telecoms Prior Approval 

Non Material Amendment 

Withdrawn 

 

CLE 

CND 

PDET28 

PN56 

POROW 

TCA 

TPO 

 

FDO 

Certificate of Lawfulness Existing 

Discharge of Conditions 

Agricultural Prior Approval 

Change of Use Agriculture to Dwelling 

Creation or Diversion of Right of Way 

Works to Trees in a Conservation Area 

Works to Trees subject of a Tree 

Preservation Order 

Finally Disposed Of 

 

Decision 

Code 

 

 

Description 

 

Decision 

Code 

 

Description 

APP 

REF 

P1REQ 

P3APP 

P4APP 

Approve 

Refuse  

Prior Approval Required 

Prior Approval Approved 

Prior Approval Approved 

RNO 

ROB 

P2NRQ 

P3REF 

P4REF 

Raise no objection  

Raise Objection  

Prior Approval Not Required 

Prior Approval Refused 

Prior Approval Refused 

 

 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS  

  

Application Number.  

 

Ward. 

 

 Decision. 

 

 

1.  21/02647/FUL Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

FDO 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of six affordable houses and four market houses and associated parking, access and 

landscaping 

Land North And South Of The Lane Great Tew 

The Great Tew Estate 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



DELGAT 
 

2.  21/02648/FUL Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

FDO 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Construction of a new village car park with associated access and landscaping 

Land South West Of The Lane Great Tew 

C/O Agent 

 

 

3.  21/03936/FUL Charlbury and Finstock WDN 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Demolition of existing stables. Erection of self contained unit ancillary to the existing dwelling 

Whistler Fawler Road Charlbury 

M And C Swift And J And H Lamb 

 

 

4.  22/02809/CND Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Discharge of condition 12 (full surface water drainage scheme) of planning permission 

20/01933/FUL 

Police Station  Banbury Road Chipping Norton 

Mr Mark Edwards 

 

 

5.  22/03527/FUL Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Fenestration works including changes to doors and installation of external lighting 

(Retrospective) 

Farriers House Enstone Road Little Tew 

Mr and Mrs Guy Wengraf 

 

 

6.  23/00065/CND Freeland and Hanborough APP 

  

Discharge of condition 3 (Surface Water Drainage) of planning permission 22/02188/FUL 

Freeland House Wroslyn Road Freeland 

MR MAHESH PATEL 

 

 

7.  23/00612/CLE Charlbury and Finstock APP 

  

Certificate of Lawfulness (use of land as a caravan and camping site, including land ancillary to 

that use). 

Caravan Site Spelsbury Road Charlbury 

Mr Keith Dighton 

 

 

Page 80



DELGAT 
 

8.  23/00648/LBC Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

External repairs to 1-7 Kings Head Court. Works to include replacement and repairs to 

windows and french doors, re-roofing of the main property, removal of a redundant, metal 

fire escape to the rear and rendering repairs. 

1 Kings Head Court Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Findpar 

 

 

9.  23/00749/FUL Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of extension to South elevation to provide a purpose built community gym. 

Charlbury Community Centre Enstone Road Charlbury 

Mr Ashley Beighton 

 

 

10.  23/00824/CND Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Discharge of condition 3 (Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation) of planning 

permission 22/03109/HHD 

Church Enstone Hall Little Tew Road Church Enstone 

Mr And Mrs Cornet De Ways Ruart 

 

 

11.  23/00883/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Demolition of annex and replacement with 2 storey side extension and single storey front 

extension forming new porch. Proposed single storey link extension to attach the proposed 

extension with the existing building 

Leys Farm Cottage  Little Tew Road Church Enstone 

Mr Jack Savoretti 

 

 

12.  23/00915/FUL The Bartons APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of new groundsman shed to store machinery and equipment used in preparation of 

cricket ground. 

Sports Ground And Premises Sandford Park Ledwell Road 

Mr Jim Howe 

 

 

13.  23/01077/HHD Freeland and Hanborough REF 

  

Conversion of garage and erection of a single storey rear/side extension 

4 Parklands Freeland Witney 

Mr Andrew Harris 

 

 

Page 81



DELGAT 
 

14.  23/01094/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Reconfiguration of existing dwelling together with the insertion of new rooflights and 

reinstatement of existing high level window. 

Loaf Cottage 39A Sheep Street Charlbury 

Mr Jack Harrison 

 

 

15.  23/01095/LBC Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Internal and external alterations to reconfigure existing dwelling together with the insertion 

of new rooflights and reinstatement of existing high level window. 

Loaf Cottage 39A Sheep Street Charlbury 

Mr Jack Harrison 

 

 

16.  23/01123/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Construction of two rear domer windows 

The Smithy Old Forge Road Great Rollright 

Mr Giuseppe Napoli 

 

 

17.  23/01142/FUL Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of 2.2m high ivy screen fencing and Increase height of main pedestrian gate to 1.8m. 

Remove existing storage shed and construction of new cabin to provide additional teaching 

space together with associated works. 

Leafield Church Of England Primary School The Green Leafield 

Ms Faye Dean 

 

 

18.  23/01149/LBC Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

External and internal alterations to carry out repair works to open up the external ramp and 

repair the wall below ground level together with refurbishment and changes to the layout of 

the ladies WC. 

Town Hall Market Place Chipping Norton 

Chipping Norton Town Council 

 

 

Page 82



DELGAT 
 

19.  23/01189/HHD Chadlington and Churchill APP 

  

Proposed new vehicular access 

10 Chipping Norton Road Chadlington Chipping Norton 

Mr Patrick Cashman 

 

 

20.  23/01191/S73 Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Variation of condition 2 (amended plans) of planning permission 21/04076/FUL to allow design 

changes (amended plans). 

7 Cleveley Road Enstone Chipping Norton 

Mr Paul O'Brien 

 

 

21.  23/01221/HHD Milton Under Wychwood REF 

  

Proposed single storey rear extension and detached Utility outbuilding 

1 Sunnyview Milton Under Wychwood Chipping Norton 

Dr And Mrs Philip And Esther Rand 

 

 

22.  23/01233/FUL Stonesfield and Tackley WDN 

  

A change of use of land and buildings to residential use. Alterations including an extension to 

the Garage Barn providing staff living accommodation, and west side extension to the Large 

Barn. Construction of new staff access, staff parking area and secret garden 

Ludwell Farm Glympton Woodstock 

Mr R Mills 

 

 

23.  23/01234/LBC Stonesfield and Tackley WDN 

  

Alterations including an extension to the Garage Barn providing staff living accommodation, 

and west side extension to the Large Barn. Construction of new staff access, staff parking area 

and secret garden 

Ludwell Farm Glympton Woodstock 

Mr R Mills 

 

 

24.  23/01240/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

REF 

  

Amendments to garage to accomodate an office and a gym 

The Gatehouse  Green Lane Heythrop 

Miss Miriam Clubb 

 

 

Page 83



DELGAT 
 

25.  23/01254/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of front porch 

12 Nineacres Lane Charlbury Chipping Norton 

Andrew Godfrey 

 

 

26.  23/01256/CND Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Discharge of condition 8 (foul and surface water drainage scheme, details of external lighting, 

details of twin unit caravans, landscaping scheme and maintenance schedule) of planning 

permission  21/00801/FUL 

Land North West Of 66 Over Norton Road Chipping Norton 

Mr Tyson Shepherd 

 

 

27.  23/01258/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Change from velux to pitched roof dormer 

Advent House 15 Manor Farm Close Kingham 

Mr Anthony Prosser 

 

 

28.  23/01272/HHD Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of a shed/ hobby room 

The Hollies 21 Nethercote Road Tackley 

Mr Gary Winn 

 

 

29.  23/01273/LBC Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of a shed 

The Hollies 21 Nethercote Road Tackley 

Mr Gary Winn 

 

 

30.  23/01279/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP 

  

Demolition of existing rear extensions, erection of single storey rear extension and internal 

works. Alteration to front window and installation of air source heat pump 

28 Bear Close Woodstock Oxfordshire 

Mr Vijay Mistry 

 

 

Page 84



DELGAT 
 

31.  23/01286/HHD Chipping Norton APP 

  

Addition of side door entrance, two proposed skylights to rear garage roof and front of loft 

5 Wilcox Road Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Mr Tom Festa 

 

 

32.  23/01287/S73 Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Removal of condition 3 (Extraction and Ventilation control measures) and variation of 

condition 4 (opening hours) to allow a change in the opening hours of planning permission 

23/00114/FUL 

Alder House Market Street Charlbury 

Chloe Horner 

 

 

33.  23/01317/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of a single storey rear extension (amended plans) 

52 Ticknell Piece Road Charlbury Chipping Norton 

Mr E Perry 

 

 

34.  23/01324/HHD Burford APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Installation of an oil tank in front garden. 

50 Witney Street Burford Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs David And Sylvia Dolton 

 

 

35.  23/01335/FUL Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Construction of raised patio and terraced flower beds with steps to garden (Retrospective) 

19 Harrison Drive Over Norton Chipping Norton 

Mrs Katie Kann 

 

 

36.  23/01370/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Alterations to include removal of existing rear porch and erection of single storey extension 

to link house and garage together with associated works and changes to doors and 

fenestration. 

Penstone 5 The Grange Kingham 

Mr And Mrs Robinson 

 

 

Page 85



DELGAT 
 

37.  23/01389/LBC Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Formation of swimming pool with associated plant room, changing facilities and gazebo, 

erection of trellis fencing and air source heat pump (amended plans) (part retrospective). 

Church End House Church End Great Rollright 

Mr And Mrs C Pragnell 

 

 

38.  23/01394/HHD Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Single storey rear extension 

11 Cockshoot Close Stonesfield Witney 

Mr Thomas 

 

 

39.  23/01396/OUT The Bartons APP 

  

Outline application with some matters reserved for the demolition of the existing two-storey 

dwelling and garage, and the erection of a replacement detached two-storey dwelling with 

detached garaging in revised location together with associated change of use. 

Heath Cottage Farm Worton Road Middle Barton 

Mr D Moore 

 

 

40.  23/01416/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Formation of swimming pool with associated plant room, changing facilities and gazebo, 

erection of trellis fencing and air source heat pump (amended plans and description) (part 

retrospective) 

Church End House Church End Great Rollright 

Mr And Mrs C Pragnell 

 

 

41.  23/01426/HHD Chadlington and Churchill APP 

  

Removal of existing entrance lobby and erection of replacement single storey extension, 

changes to fenestration in South elevation and installation of additional roof lights in North 

elevation. 

Upper Court Barn Mill End Chadlington 

Mr And Mrs C Hendry 

 

 

Page 86



DELGAT 
 

42.  23/01429/FUL Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 

APP 

  

Replace existing storage shed with new log cabin for use as pre-school office/meeting room 

and erection of new storage shed in revised position. 

New Village Hall Lower End Leafield 

Mrs Jodie Clatworthy 

 

 

43.  23/01431/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Creation of kitchen garden with raised beds and glasshouse together with associated works. 

Maplewood Barn Great Tew Chipping Norton 

C/o Agent 

 

 

44.  23/01442/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

External alterations including erection of a single story rear extension (Amended Plans) 

The Old Cottage  East End Swerford 

Mr And Mrs P Chubb 

 

 

45.  23/01443/LBC Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Internal and external alterations including erection of a single story rear extension (Amended 

Plans) 

The Old Cottage  East End Swerford 

Mr And Mrs P Chubb 

 

 

46.  23/01449/FUL Milton Under Wychwood APP 

  

Part conversion of existing building to two holiday lets with associated works and landscaping. 

Bean Bottom Barns Idbury Road Fifield 

Mr O Lloyd 

 

 

47.  23/01458/LBC Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of advertisement sign (Retrospective) (Amended Plans and description) 

29 - 30 High Street Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Ms Claire Beswick 

 

 

Page 87



DELGAT 
 

48.  23/01460/ADV Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of signage (retrospective) (amended plans and description) 

29 - 30 High Street Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Ms Claire Beswick 

 

 

49.  23/01462/CLP Woodstock and Bladon APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Certificate of Lawfulness to confirm sufficient works have been implemented of planning 

permission 20/00897/FUL (conversion of part of shop to residential to serve existing dwelling, 

erection of rear extension and alterations to garage) to allow the continuation of building 

works. 

2 High Street Woodstock Oxfordshire 

Jaynic Properties Ltd 

 

 

50.  23/01480/CND Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 4 (schedule of materials) 5 (roof sample) 6 (details of external 

windows and doors) 9 (details of integrated bat roosting and nesting opportunities) 11 (full 

surface water drainage scheme) 12 (details of the access between the land and highway) 13 

(details of parking area and disposal of surface water) and 16 (details of boundary treatment) 

of planning permission 21/04076/FUL 

7 Cleveley Road Enstone Chipping Norton 

Mr O'Brien 

 

 

51.  23/01488/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of a single storey front extension 

4 Woodfield Drive Charlbury Chipping Norton 

Mr Whitehead 

 

 

52.  23/01499/LBC Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Internal and external alterations to include a mixed-use conversion and redevelopment of 

existing retail and residential premises to form a 2-screen cinema, eight residential apartments 

(C3) plus five serviced short-term let apartment suites, with 14 spaced car park and shared 

bin and bicycle stores to rear (Revised scheme - Variation of condition 5 (approved plans) of 

planning permission 21/01205/LBC to allow design changes). 

29 - 30 High Street Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Mr Alex Giacchetti 

 

 

Page 88



DELGAT 
 

53.  23/01510/S73 Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 21/01968/HHD to allow changes to 

fenestration, doors, floor levels and internal layouts of the Coach House. 

Little Manor Church Hill Tackley 

Ms H Vuladinovic 

 

 

54.  23/01513/S73 Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) of planning permission 21/01204/FUL to allow 

design changes 

29 - 30 High Street Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Mr Alex Giacchetti 

 

 

55.  23/01515/LBC Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

  

Restoration of Heyford Bridge (Amendments to previously approved 20/03524/LBC) 

Heyford Bridge Rousham Oxfordshire 

Mr Dotun Gbadamosi 

 

 

56.  23/01528/HHD Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

  

Proposed single storey rear extension 

6 Combe Road Stonesfield Witney 

Mr And Mrs Rice 

 

 

57.  23/01516/CND Charlbury and Finstock APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 2 (schedule of materials) and 3 (roof samples) of planning permission 

22/03388/FUL 

Ambleside Farm Ditchley Road Charlbury 

Mr Moss 

 

 

58.  23/01520/CND Charlbury and Finstock APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 4 (details of off-street electric vehicle parking) 5 (travel and tourist 

information pack) and 6 (scheme of biodiversity enhancements) of planning permission 

22/03377/FUL 

Ambleside Farm Ditchley Road Charlbury 

Mr Moss 

 

 

Page 89



DELGAT 
 

59.  23/01521/CND Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

  

Discharge of condition 5 (details of external windows and doors) of planning permission 

22/02161/FUL and condition 4 (details of external windows and doors) of Listed Building 

Consent 22/02162/LBC 

Hill Farm Glympton Woodstock 

Mr Thomas Lillywhite 

 

 

60.  23/01532/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Installation of dormer window in rear elevation to replace existing roof light. 

Moredays 36 The Slade Charlbury 

Osborne 

 

 

61.  23/01553/HHD Freeland and Hanborough APP 

  

Conversion of existing garage to create additional living space and erection of first floor 

extension above. 

31 Walkers Close Freeland Witney 

Mr And Mrs D Ashman 

 

 

62.  23/01543/S73 Milton Under Wychwood APP 

  

Variation of condition 2 of permission 20/00070/FUL to vary site layout and building designs 

(part retrospective) (amended plans) 

High Fields Church Road Milton Under Wychwood 

C/o Agent 

 

 

63.  23/01548/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Conversion of existing garage and outbuilding to create a study and additional living area with 

alterations to garage roof, erection of a glazed link between the two buildings and a single 

storey glazed extension to main dwelling. Construction of a new timber outbuilding for 

garden storage purposes and the formation of parking area for three cars with access from 

existing gateway and construction of stone retaining garden walls. (amended plans) 

Bell House Chipping Norton Road Little Tew 

Philippa Radford 

 

 

Page 90



DELGAT 
 

64.  23/01549/LBC Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Internal and external alterations to include conversion of existing garage and outbuilding to 

create a study and additional living area with alterations to garage roof and erection of a 

glazed link between the two buildings. Internal works to include alterations to staircase and 

internal layout along with the installation of a log burner. External works to include the 

removal of the attached single storey store and erection of a glazed extension to main 

dwelling and construction of stone retaining garden walls. (amended plans) 

Bell House Chipping Norton Road Little Tew 

Philippa Radford 

 

 

65.  23/01560/S73 Ascott and Shipton APP 

  

Variation of conditions 2 and 5 of permission 22/02798/S73 to facilitate design changes and 

slight layout amendment 

Land North East Of 51 High Street Ascott Under Wychwood 

Mr R Beak 

 

 

66.  23/01575/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Change of exterior finish of property from pebble dash to a flat coloured render. 

2 Hundley Way Charlbury Chipping Norton 

Mr Allyn Parsons 

 

 

67.  23/01583/HHD Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 

APP 

  

To allow the use of garage for additional living space (Retrospective). 

Wychwood Grange Fordwells Witney 

Mr Steve Palmer 

 

 

68.  23/01604/HHD Chadlington and Churchill APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Removal of existing lean-to extension. Erection of single storey front and side extensions, 

construction of a porch and insertion of window to the West elevation. 

Four Bays Hastings Hill Churchill 

Ms Anne Batchelor 

 

 

Page 91



DELGAT 
 

69.  23/01609/CND Milton Under Wychwood APP 

  

Discharge of condition 5 (full surface water drainage scheme) of planning permission 

23/00478/HHD 

Workham Farm Fifield Chipping Norton 

Mr Alex Berry 

 

 

70.  23/01614/HHD Ascott and Shipton APP 

  

Erection of a carport to side elevation. 

6 London Lane Ascott Under Wychwood Chipping Norton 

Mr And Mrs Witheridge 

 

 

71.  23/01645/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Demolition of existing garage and utility. Erection of two storey side and single storey rear 

extension to replace conservatory. 

16 Grove Road Bladon Woodstock 

Mr And Mrs T White 

 

 

72.  23/01669/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP 

  

Single storey rear extension to replace existing conservatory and external WC. Alterations to 

porch roof and forming of new pedestrian access in front boundary wall. 

30 New Road Woodstock Oxfordshire 

Ms V Hatch 

 

 

73.  23/01730/HHD Chipping Norton REF 

  

Erection of single storey and first floor extensions. 

33 Lords Piece Road Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Ms J Gregory 

 

 

 

Page 92



Uplands Appeal Decisions 

 

APP/D3125/W/22/3299266 

Manor Farm, Chapel Hill, Wootton, Woodstock 

Appeal A (HHD)- The development proposed is described as ‘Alterations to existing first floor 

window to form wider window opening corresponding with existing ground floor window 

immediately below; provision of new window joinery re-using existing vertical-sliding. Re-form 

stonework to arched head to existing ground floor window to right of main entrance. Repairs to 

existing pointing of masonry to front elevation. Repairs/overhaul of rainwater disposal system to 

front elevation; replace existing plastic goods with cast iron or aluminium plain half round gutters 

and circular downpipes with blacksmith-made gutter brackets; increase capacity of rainwater goods. 

Access to/from and within the building will be maintained as existing.’ 

Appeal B (LBC) - The development proposed is described as ‘Alterations to existing first floor 

window to form wider window opening corresponding with existing ground floor window 

immediately below; provision of new window joinery re-using existing vertical-sliding. Re-form 

stonework to arched head to existing ground floor window to right of main entrance. Repairs to 

existing pointing of masonry to front elevation. Repairs/overhaul of rainwater disposal system to 

front elevation; replace existing plastic goods with cast iron or aluminium plain half round gutters 

and circular downpipes with blacksmith-made gutter brackets; increase capacity of rainwater goods. 

Access to/from and within the building will be maintained as existing.’ 

Part Allowed, part Dismissed 

Page 93

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewDocument.aspx?fileid=53319786


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Applications for Development
	6 Delegated List Uplands Aug 23
	Uplands Appeal Decisions August 23


